



Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department Joint Powers  
Authority

and

The International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1974,  
AFL-CIO-CLC

MEMORANDUM

OF

UNDERSTANDING

| JULY 1, ~~2014-2018~~ – ~~JUNE 30~~ DECEMBER 31, 2018 2021

# Table of Contents

Section 1.	Recognition .....	1
Section 2.	Union Security .....	1
Section 3.	No Discrimination.....	<u>654</u>
Section 4.	Union Representatives and Non-Discrimination.....	<u>664</u>
Section 5.	Salaries.....	<u>765</u>
Section 6.	Hours of Work, Shift & Station Assignments .....	<u>1097</u>
Section 7.	Overtime .....	<u>12119</u>
Section 8.	Department Related Court Time.....	<u>151412</u>
Section 9.	Holiday Pay .....	<u>151412</u>
Section 10.	Documentation Regarding Organized Mess.....	<u>161512</u>
Section 11.	Certification/License Pay .....	<u>171613</u>
Section 12.	Paramedic Program and Compensation .....	<u>171613</u>
Section 13.	Vacations .....	<u>191914</u>
Section 14.	Sick Leave.....	<u>242317</u>
Section 15.	Leaves .....	<u>282719</u>
Section 16.	Health and Welfare .....	<u>323122</u>
Section 17.	Retirement.....	<u>393828</u>
Section 18.	Fire Inspectors .....	<u>424130</u>
Section 19.	Uniforms .....	<u>424130</u>
Section 20.	Credit Union.....	<u>434230</u>
Section 21.	Tuition Reimbursement.....	<u>434230</u>
Section 22.	Probationary Period .....	<u>464533</u>

Section 23.	Promotion and Demotion .....	<u>474634</u>
Section 24.	Resignation, Reinstatement and Layoff.....	<u>494835</u>
Section 25.	Discipline .....	<u>504937</u>
Section 26.	Grievances .....	<u>514937</u>
Section 27.	Medical Examination.....	<u>545240</u>
Section 28.	Outside Employment .....	<u>555340</u>
Section 29.	Americans with Disabilities.....	<u>555341</u>
Section 30.	Miscellaneous .....	<u>555441</u>
Section 31.	Hazardous Material Response Team .....	<u>575642</u>
Section 32.	Separability of Provisions .....	<u>585743</u>
Section 33.	Existing Memorandum of Understanding .....	<u>585743</u>
Appendix A.....		<u>615945</u>
<u>Salary Schedule.....</u>		<u>655945</u>
Appendix B.....		<u>706349</u>
<i>Catastrophic Leave Policy</i> .....		<u>706349</u>
Appendix C.....		<u>716450</u>
<i>Grievance Review Board Procedures</i> .....		<u>716450</u>
<u>SIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT #2 .....</u>		<u>726551</u>
<i>Paramedic Preceptor Program</i> .....		<u>726551</u>

|

The City of Livermore and the City of Pleasanton have jointly formed the Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department Joint Powers Authority ("JPA") to operate the Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department ("LPFD" or "Department"). The International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1974, AFL-CIO-CLC ("Union"), and representatives of the ~~Cities~~ City of Livermore and the City of Pleasanton have met and conferred in good faith regarding wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment ~~of~~ for employees in the representation unit specified in Section 1, and have exchanged freely information, opinions and proposals and have reached agreement on all matters relating to the employment conditions and employer-employee relations of such employees.

This Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") is entered into pursuant to the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act ("MMBA") (Government Code Section 3500, et. seq.) and has been jointly prepared by the parties.

This ~~Memorandum of Understanding~~ MOU has been presented to the ~~Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department Joint Powers Authority~~ JPA's governing board and to the City Councils of the City of Livermore and the City of Pleasanton. The governing board and the City Councils have approved the salary and employee benefit adjustments for the period commencing July 1, ~~2014-2018~~ and ending ~~June 30~~ December 31, 2018-2021.

The City of Pleasanton ("City" or "Employer") is the employer of all employees represented by the Union and covered by this MOU. "Employees" as used in this MOU shall mean employees of the City.

~~"Employees" as used in this Memorandum of Understanding MOU shall mean employees of the City of Pleasanton. Unless otherwise indicated, "City" or "the City" shall mean the City of Pleasanton.~~

## **Section 1. Recognition**

~~Local 1974, of the International Association of Fire Fighters, AFL-CIO-CLC, hereinafter referred to as the~~ "The Union," is the formally recognized employee organization for the Fire Employees Unit comprised of the classifications of Firefighter, Fire Engineer, Fire Captain, Fire Inspector and Hazardous Materials Inspector certified pursuant to the Employer-Employee Relations Procedures & Resolution No. 97-1 adopted by the JPA Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department Joint Powers Authority on ~~11/21/97~~ November 21, 1997.

## **Section 2. Union Security**

### **2.1 Agency Shop**

~~Pursuant to legislation enacted by SB 739 and subsequent amendments to the MMBA Meyers-Milias-Brown Act, the City and the Union agree to abide by the following provisions as they relate to an agency shop:~~

- ~~A. — Agency Shop as defined under Meyers-Milias Brown the MMBA means "an arrangement that requires an employee, as a condition of continued employment, either to join the recognized employee organization, or to pay the organization a service fee in an amount not to exceed the standard initiation fee, periodic dues, and general assessments of the organization." The City and the Union agree to maintain the existing that an agency shop~~

arrangement between the City and the Union shall be placed in effect upon ratification of this agreement parties.

B. ~~Any employee who is a member of a bona fide religion, body, or sect that has historically held conscientious objections to joining or financially supporting public employee organizations shall not be required to join or financially support any public employee organization as a condition of employment. The employee may be required, in lieu of periodic dues, initiation fees, or agency fees, to pay sums equal to the dues, initiation fees, or agency fees to a non-religious, non-labor charitable fund exempt from taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, chosen from the list of organizations below:~~

- ~~1. Taylor Foundation~~
- ~~2. Alyssa Anne Rousch Burn Foundation~~
- ~~3. American Cancer Society~~
- ~~4. Senior Support Services~~

~~If the Union fails to designate qualified organizations or less than three organizations, then the employee may contribute the required amounts to any such fund chosen by the employee. Proof of the payments shall be made on a monthly basis to the City as a condition of continued exemption from the requirement of financial support to the Union.~~

C. ~~Covered employees shall execute written authorization for either Union dues deductions, the agency fee, or, if eligible, the charitable contribution in accordance with Section 2.2.A.~~

D. ~~If implemented, an The agency shop provision may be rescinded by a majority vote of all the employees in the unit covered by the Memorandum of Understanding MOU, pursuant to in accordance with the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act MMBA.~~

E. ~~The Union shall keep an adequate itemized record of its financial transactions and shall make available annually, to the City and to the employees who are members of the organization, within sixty (60) days after the end of its fiscal year, a detailed written financial report thereof in the form of a balance sheet and an operating statement, certified as to accuracy by its president and treasurer or corresponding principal officer, or a certified public accountant.~~

F. ~~The Union shall indemnify and hold the City harmless against any liability arising from any claims, demands, or other action relating to the City's compliance with the agency shop obligation. The Union shall comply with all statutory and legal requirements with respect to Agency agency Shopshop.~~

## **2.1.2.2 Dues Deduction**

A. Bargaining unit employees may voluntarily join the Union and authorize individual payroll deductions for dues, initiation fees, and general assessments, as well as any other

~~membership benefit program sponsored by the Union (hereinafter collectively “dues deductions”). The Union shall be responsible for maintaining records of bargaining unit employees who provide written consent to join the Union and authorize dues deductions. The Union shall certify to the City the identity of such members and the amount of the dues deductions to be withheld from their paychecks. Upon receipt of a written assignment and authorization signed by the employee, the Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department City agrees to deduct from an employee's paycheck an amount which will equal to the total the dues uniformly required for membership in the Union. The Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department City shall remit the amount so deducted to the officer designated in writing by the President of the Union as the person authorized to receive such funds.~~

- ~~B. The Employer agrees to deduct from the paychecks of each bargaining unit employee who voluntarily authorizes dues deductions as certified by the Union, or pursuant to an authorization form tendered to the Employer by either the Union or the employee. The City shall deduct from each bargaining unit employee's paycheck the total amount of dues certified by the Union per month or per pay period as applicable. The Employer shall promptly remit the total amount deducted, together with a list identifying each employee from whom a deduction was made, to the officer designated in writing by the President of the Union as the person authorized to receive such funds.~~

~~The Employer will implement any change to a bargaining unit employee's payroll deductions during the first full pay period following notification of such change by the Union.~~

~~If a bargaining unit employees desires to revoke, cancel or change their prior dues deduction authorization, the Employer shall direct the employee to the Union. Any such dues deduction revocation, cancellation and/or change shall be effective only when submitted by the Union to the Employer and is subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the original payroll deduction/authorization.~~

~~B. — The President of the Union shall notify the Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department Fire Chief City in writing as to the amount of such dues uniformly required of all members of the Union.~~

- C. The employee's earnings must be regularly sufficient after other legal and required deductions are made to cover the amount of the dues check-off authorized. When an employee is in a non-pay status for an entire pay period, no withholding will be made to cover that pay period from future earnings. In the case of an employee who is in a non-pay status during only part of the pay period, and the salary is not sufficient to cover the full withholding, no deduction shall be made. ~~In this connection~~ Thus, all other legal and required deductions have priority over union dues. In addition, in order to meet certain accounting deadlines, all payroll changes connected with the deduction of ~~said~~ union dues must be made by the fifteenth (15) of the preceding month.
- D. The Union shall indemnify, defend, and hold the ~~Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department Joint Powers Authority City~~ harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, proceedings or court orders, or any other liability that may arise out of or by reason of action taken or not taken by the Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department for the purpose of complying with any of

the provisions of this check-off agreement. In addition, the Union shall refund to the Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department any amounts paid to it in error upon presentation of supporting evidence. However, the Union shall not be required to make reimbursements should discovery of the error occur twenty-four (24) months after the occurrence of the error.

## **2.3-2 Communication with Employees**

### A. New Employee Orientation Meetings

This provision applies to all new employees hired into the Fire Employees Unit and is intended to comply with the provisions of AB119.

1. The City will provide the Union with not less than ten (10) calendar days' advance written notice of the time, date and location of all new employee orientation meetings, unless an urgent and unforeseeable need for a new employee orientation meeting precludes the City from providing the Union with ten (10) calendar days' advance notice. Notice will be made by way of email to the Union President and Vice President.
2. The Union will be given up to thirty (30) minutes as part of the new employee orientation meetings to present Union membership information to new employees of the Fire Employees Unit.
3. The Union representatives who will present information at the new employee orientation meetings may do so while on duty and in uniform, provided the Union notifies the Fire Chief of the names of the employees who will be presenting information on behalf of the Union at the new employee orientation meeting with at least five (5) days advance notice and the Fire Chief has agreed that the employees' participation will not create an unreasonable burden on operations.
4. The above provisions shall in no way impact or delay the hire of any employee.

### B. Information Requirements

1. The City will provide the Union with a digital file via email to the Union President and Vice President containing the following information for each employee in the Fire Employees Unit to the extent the Department has the information on file:
  - Name
  - Job title
  - Work location
  - Personal telephone number (may be home or cellular as provided by the employee)
  - Home address
  - Personal email addresses on file with the Department (new hires only)
2. The above information will be provided to the Union as follows:



- For new hires, within 30 days of hire or by the first pay period of the month following hire.
- For all bargaining unit employees every one hundred twenty (120) calendar days.

### C. Fire Station Visits

Any Union representative ~~of the Union~~ shall give notice to the Fire Chief when ~~contacting Livermore Pleasanton Fire Department~~ visiting employees at their assigned fire stations during the employee's duty period, ~~of the employees,~~ provided that solicitation for membership or other internal employee organization business shall be conducted only during the off-duty hours of all employees concerned. The Fire Chief and the Union may enter into a standing agreement- Prearrangement for routine contact between Union representatives and on-duty employees and such agreement may be made by agreement between the Union and the Fire Chief and when made shall continue until revoked.

### **2.4.3 Bulletin Boards**

The ~~Livermore Pleasanton Fire~~ Department shall provide suitable space for bulletin boards in the fire stations. The Union shall be allowed to use such bulletin boards for communications having to do with official Union business, ~~such as time and place of meetings.~~

### **2.5.4 Use of Department Facilities for Meetings**

A. The Union President may, with the prior approval of the Fire Chief or designated representative, be granted the use of ~~Fire~~ Department facilities and/or communications equipment for meetings of employees in this unit provided that:

1. ~~requests~~ Requests be are made in advance.
2. ~~such~~ Such meetings do not conflict with other ~~Fire~~ Department activities.
3. ~~attendance~~ Attendance of on-duty employees at such meetings may occur only after 1700 hours, unless other arrangements have been authorized in advance by the Fire Chief and only when it does not prevent the performance of required ~~to perform assigned~~ work.
4. ~~such~~ Such meetings do shall not involve excessive or unnecessary ~~S~~station transfers or result in financial responsibility for the Department.

B. Regularly Scheduled Membership Meetings.

1. Union meetings may be held in ~~a Fire~~ Sstations after 1700 hours unless other arrangements have been authorized in advance by the Fire Chief.

2. Union meetings shall not interfere with regularly scheduled duties or emergency response. Fire prevention personnel may attend union meetings during their regular work hours provided they are otherwise able to complete their duties.
3. On-duty members may attend Union ~~M~~meetings, as long as no first-due districts are left empty, or by approval of the Fire Chief.

~~2.6~~ C. Advance Notice

Except in cases of emergency ~~as provided below in this subsection~~, the Union, ~~if affected~~, shall be given reasonable advance written notice of any ordinance, resolution, rule or regulation relating to matters within the scope of representation ~~to be adopted by the Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department~~ and shall be given the opportunity to meet and confer in good faith with the appropriate management representatives prior to adoption.

The Department will provide the Union with reasonable written notice and ~~afford this bargaining unit~~ the opportunity to meet and confer in good faith regarding the addition to or changes in Personnel Rules and Regulations, other policies, or departmental policies when such changes are within the scope of bargaining pursuant to the ~~Meyers-Milias-Brown Act~~ MMBA.

**Section 3. No Discrimination**

The ~~Fire Department, Employer and~~ the Union, ~~and any persons employed by them~~ shall comply with the City of Pleasanton's Harassment Policy (Human Resources & Administrative Policy Guide).

Furthermore, the Employer shall not discriminate or retaliate against any employee because of their engagement in legally protected Union activities.

**Section 4. Union Representatives ~~and Non-Discrimination~~**

~~Department Bargaining unit~~ employees who are officers or official representatives of the Union shall be given reasonable time off with pay to attend meetings with management representatives, or to be present at hearings where matters within the scope of representation are being considered. The use of official time for this purpose shall be reasonable and shall not interfere with the performance of department services as determined by the Department. Such employee representatives shall submit requests for excused absences to the Fire Chief. The Union shall submit a list of the officers of the Union to the Fire Chief in writing at such time there are any changes in such Union officers.

~~Furthermore, the Fire Department shall not discriminate against any employee because of legitimate employee organization activities.~~

## Section 5. Salaries

### 5.1 Rates of Pay

The salary ranges for all employees as set forth in Appendix A represent, for each classification, the ~~standard base~~ rate of pay for full-time employment, ~~and represent the total compensation due employees, except for~~ The salary ranges do not include overtime compensation, specialty pay and other benefits specifically provided by the ~~Department~~ Employer as outlined in this ~~Memorandum of Understanding~~ MOU.

Effective the first pay period on or after ~~January 1, 2015~~ ~~August 1, 2018~~ January 1, 2019 (~~January 3, 2015~~ ~~August 11, 2018~~ January 12, 2019), the salary ranges of all classifications ~~represented by the Union covered by this MOU~~ shall be increased by three percent (3%). In addition, the salary ranges for all suppression classifications will be increased by an additional four percent (4%) and the existing four percent (4%) Emergency Medical Technician certificate pay will be eliminated.

Effective the first pay period on or after July 1, ~~2015-2019~~ (~~July 4, 2015~~ 13, 2019), the salary ranges of all classifications ~~represented by the Union covered by this MOU~~ shall be increased by three percent (3%).

Effective the first pay period on or after July 1, ~~2016-2020~~ (~~July 2, 2016~~ 11, 2020), the salary ranges of all classifications ~~represented by the Union covered by this MOU~~ shall be increased by three and one-half percent (3.5%).

Effective the first pay period on or after July 1, 2021 (July 10, 2021), the salary ranges of all classifications covered by this MOU shall be increased by one percent (1%).

~~Effective the first pay period on or after July 1, 2017 (July 1, 2017), the salary ranges of all classifications represented by the Union shall be increased by three percent (3%).~~

### 5.2 Entrance Salary

~~The entrance salary and benefits for a new e~~ Employees entering ~~the~~ Department service shall be ~~the~~ the ~~minimum salary placed at step 1 of the salary range for the classification to which he/she is they are appointed.~~ When circumstances warrant, the Fire Chief may authorize ~~an entrance salary for the original appointment or a initial appointment or reinstatement at a rate to a salary step that is greater than the minimum rate for that the~~ classification.

### 5.3 Conversion of Pay Rates

Any m Monthly rate of pay salaries may be converted into any equivalent rate of pay or to any other time basis when, in the judgment of the Fire Chief, such a conversion is advisable. In determining the equivalent amounts on a different time basis, the Fire Chief shall provide tables for use in converting monthly salaries to hourly rates, as well as for calculating hourly rates.

### 5.4 Salary Advancement

Permanent and probationary employees shall be advanced one salary step in their respective classifications after satisfactory completion of full-time service, until they reach the top step of the applicable salary range ~~is reached~~. (See timetable below). No salary advancement shall exceed the maximum rate top step established ~~for the employee's in the~~ respective classification.

Advancements shall not be automatic but shall ~~depend upon increased service value of an employee to the City~~ require satisfactory service to the Department as recommended by the Fire Chief.

Changes in an employee's salary because of promotion or demotion to a new classification with a new salary range will establish a new salary anniversary date for ~~that an~~ employee. ~~Salary range adjustments for a~~ Advancement to higher steps within the salary range of an employee's existing classification will not establish a new salary anniversary date ~~for in the~~ employee's servicing in that existing classification.

### **Salary Advancement Timetable**

Firefighter	Step 1 to Step 2	After 6 months of fulltime satisfactory service at Step 1
Firefighter	Step 2 to Step 3	After 6 months of fulltime satisfactory service at Step 2
Firefighter	Step 3 to Step 4	After 6 months of fulltime satisfactory service at Step 3
Firefighter	Step 4 to Step 5	After 12 months of fulltime satisfactory service at Step 4
Firefighter	Step 5 to Step 6	After 12 months of fulltime satisfactory service at Step 5
Fire Engineer	Step 7 to Step 8	After 12 months of fulltime satisfactory service at Step 7
Fire Captain	Step 9 to Step 10	After 12 months of fulltime satisfactory service at Step 9
<u>Fire Inspector</u>	<u>Step Advancement</u>	<u>After 12 months of fulltime satisfactory service at each step</u>
<u>Hazmat Inspector</u>	<u>Step Advancement</u>	<u>After 12 months of fulltime satisfactory service at each step</u>

#### **5.5 Salary Step When Salary Range Increases**

Whenever the monthly salary schedule of compensation for a classification is ~~revised/adjusted~~, each incumbent ~~in a position to which the revised schedule applies~~ shall be ~~entitled to the~~ placed at the same salary step in the revised salary range ~~corresponding that corresponds~~ to the step held by ~~him/her the~~ employee in the previous salary range for their classification.

#### **5.6 Acting ~~Engineer and Acting Officer~~ Compensation**

A.—When an employee is assigned to act in a classification with a higher salary range, that employee's acting rate of pay shall be established as follows:

- A. The pay rate for an employee, who has passed the promotional examination and is on an active eligible list for the “acting” assignment in the higher classification; will be the same as if the employee had been promoted.

- B. An employee who is serving in an acting assignment and who performs overtime work during the time worked in the acting assignment, will receive pay for such overtime work at ~~a the~~ rate of one and one-half (1.5) times the compensation received for the acting assignment.

### 5.7 Salary Step After ~~Promotion or Demotion~~ Change in Classification

When an employee is promoted from a position in one classification to a position in a higher classification, ~~he/she the employee~~ shall receive the minimum rate for the higher classification; provided, however, that such rate is at least five percent (5%) above ~~his/her the employee's~~ current wage rate.

When a Hazardous Materials Response Team member is being promoted, the 5% Haz-Mat pay (see MOU section 31.2) will be considered in calculating the 5% minimum pay increase. However, the promoted employee will not be eligible for Haz-Mat compensation until 12 months after promotion. (For example, a fire engineer at step 8 of the wage scale and on the Hazardous Materials Response Team would be placed at step 10 of the fire captain wage scale and would not be eligible for Haz-Mat compensation until 12 months after promotion.)

An employee moving from the firefighter paramedic classification to the fire engineer classifications will be placed at step 8 of the fire engineer pay scale.

When an employee is demoted, whether such demotion is voluntary or otherwise, that employee's compensation shall be adjusted to the salary prescribed for the classification to which ~~he/she the employee~~ is demoted. The specific rate of pay within the salary range shall be determined by the City Manager, whose decision shall be final; provided, however, that the employee's rate of pay shall not be ~~set at a lower rate than he/she would have received had he/she the salary rate the employee would earn had the employee~~ remained in the lower classification.

### 5.8 Acting Fire Marshal Compensation

If both the Fire Marshal and Assistant Fire Marshal are physically ~~unavailable for normal management duties for more than a full work day,~~ the Fire Chief may assign a Fire Inspector or ~~the~~ Hazardous Materials Inspector will be designated by the Fire Chief to serve as Acting Fire Marshal. ~~For performing the additional duties of supervision and coordination,~~ Employees assigned as the Acting Fire Marshal will receive ~~Acting Pay~~ acting pay of 5% of their current base hourly wage for each hour worked as Acting Fire Marshal.

### 5.9 Cumulative Incentive Allowance Limitation

Effective August 1, 2007, there will be a cap of fifteen percent (15%) for all incentive allowance categories over and above base salary. This includes, but is not limited to: acting pay, paramedic pay, hazardous materials team pay and educational incentive pay. This cap applies for all hours worked in a pay period, a month or annually.

The Cumulative Incentive Allowance Limit will be waived for the duration of this contract.

## Section 6. Hours of Work, Shift & Station Assignments

### 6.1 Work Schedules

~~The regular workweek for non-shift employees shall consist of forty (40) hours. Such hours are flexibly scheduled.~~ The regular workweek schedule for employees in the classifications of Firefighter, Fire Engineer, and Fire Captain shall be an average fifty-six (56) hours and the 48/96 shift schedule worked in accordance with the following chart:

X = 24 hour on-duty period

O = 24 hour off-duty period

XXOOOOXXOOOOXXOOOOXXOOOO

The above work schedule results in an average of 56-hours worked per week. The parties have agreed to the 24-day FLSA duty cycle.

~~These schedules shall provide, however, that~~ The Fire Chief may from time to time temporarily assign personnel working the 48/96 shift schedule to other than their regular duty periods or schedules ~~for temporary periods of time.~~ The Fire Chief may assign such employees to a forty (40) hour workweek schedule so that the employee may attend training courses, conferences and/or meetings.

~~The parties have agreed to the 24-day FLSA duty cycle as currently administered by Pleasanton.~~

#### 6.1.1 Work Schedule for Fire Prevention Personnel

The normal work schedule for Local 1974 represented fire prevention positions is a Monday through Friday, 40 hour work week consisting of five consecutive eight hour days or 80 hours in a pay period. This is the same basic schedule used by the partner cities for normal office hour positions. ~~The City payroll departments will determine the "work period" to be used under FLSA.~~ Holidays will be per the holiday schedule set forth elsewhere in the MOU.

#### 6.1.2 Alternative Work Schedules for Fire Prevention Personnel

~~The partner cities and the LPPD can offer City employees, including Fire Prevention personnel,~~ Fire Prevention personnel may be offered alternative work schedules. Such work schedules may be a "9/80" ~~or~~ "4/10" schedule or flexible start and end times, lunch periods or days off of the work day. The Fire Chief will determine the availability of alternative work schedules, ~~which may include the start and end times of the work day, available flex days off, and lunch periods.~~ Fire Prevention personnel may bid the schedules established by the Fire Chief based on seniority. Alternative work schedules can only be offered under three conditions:

- A. Any such schedule must meet all ~~City and representative~~ Employer payroll department policies ~~in place~~.
- B. Any such schedule can be approved only if it does not negatively impact Fire Prevention Bureau customer service. ~~As currently allowed under both partner city's City Manager regulations, customer service impacts and alternative work schedule approval is by final determination of the Fire Chief as Department Head. The Fire Chief shall make the final determination on the approval of alternative work schedules.~~
- C. ~~In small work units such as Fire Prevention,~~ The Fire Chief will make alternative work schedules available equally to all ~~Local 1974~~ Union represented personnel. If that cannot be done, or if one team member protests the impacts of some personnel having alternative work schedules, the Fire Chief will rotate the availability of alternative work schedules by seniority, per City payroll policy, or cancel their use ~~all together~~ altogether.

## 6.2 Exchanges of On-Duty Time (Shift Trades)

~~Exchanges Trades~~ of on-duty time shall be permitted between employees of the same rank. ~~— Except as approved by the Fire Chief as provided under Section 16.7 exchanges of on-duty time shall not be permitted to substitute for, extend, or supplement sick leave, long-term disability or worker's compensation benefits. There shall be no limit to the number of exchanges trades per month, except that trades shall not be permitted to substitute for, extend, or supplement sick leave, long-term disability or worker's compensation leave unless approved by the Fire Chief. — The employees involved in the exchange trade shall make arrangements for the pay back of time. Employees may not use trades to alter or change their work schedules except for a "mutual" as provided in Section 6.3.~~

~~A member owing trades as the result of~~ Employees who owe time to other employees following a promotion may work in their former position in order to repay the trade(s) previously traded time, i.e. an e Engineer may work as a Firefighter, and a Captain may work as a Firefighter or an Engineer depending on the rank from which he/she the employee was promoted. — The time limit for resolving Employees must resolve owed trades ~~is within ninety (90) calendar days from the date of promotion.~~

~~Employees, who are working on-duty as part of an exchange of time, are not considered on the payroll or working additional hours for hours worked for the purpose of accumulated hours under the FLSA Fair Labor Standards Act while on-duty and working their half of the trade. However, if the employee who assumes responsibility for working an exchange of on-duty time a trade fails to report for duty work the traded on-duty time, he/she the originally scheduled employee will be charged vacation time equivalent to the time he/she agreed to work missed.~~

~~Trades can be cancelled at any time, provided it is done before staffing is filled 6 days prior to the shift. However, if an employee cancels a trade inside the the on-duty chief officer must be notified if a trade is cancelled less than six (6) days, he/she must call and notify the on-duty chief officer prior to the shift. Employees are allowed may cancel a maximum of six (6) trades cancellations per calendar year inside the 6 days with less than six (6) days' advance notice.~~

## 6.3 Shift and Station Assignments

Assignment to a specific shift and/or station shall be made through the bid system. Bids shall be made in descending order of rank beginning with the rank of captain. -Within each rank, bids shall be made by seniority. -Shift and/or station openings shall be announced via an Information Bulletin to all members and filled through the bidding procedure described in the department policy.

Station bidding shall be on a rank for rank basis, in descending order of rank seniority.

A "Mutual" is an agreement between two individuals of the same rank to trade Station and/or shift assignments for a specific period of time. -Mutuals are not permanent. -Mutuals can be between individuals on the same shift or on different shifts. The individuals involved may set the time frame of the "Mutual", however no mutual shall exceed twelve (12) months from the initial date. At the end of the twelve months both individuals will return to their original assignments. -Both individuals must physically be able to meet their assigned Station requirements, i.e., if one of the individuals is unable to return to work within the first one-year period due to any reason, the "Mutual" is considered null and void. Individuals must be qualified for the position of the person with whom they are requesting the "Mutual".

All "Mutuals" shall be submitted in writing to the Deputy Chief of Operations.

Employees assigned as paramedics may only change assignments with other employees assigned as paramedics. -Mutuals shall be considered trades between the employees involved. Only one mutual between parties will be allowed for the specific period of time. Members will not be allowed to participate in more than one mutual at a time.

Assignments properly bid will be permanent unless openings occur. All openings will be bid department wide using the department policy. In the event a station opens or closes, or there is a change in the deployment model, all affected personnel shall have the ability to re-bid following the department policy.

The Fire Chief, and/or designee, may administratively reassign shift/station assignments which result in a displacement for up to 20 shifts per occurrence to meet Department needs. This shall not apply to probationary employees or to administrative moves not resulting in displacement of another employee.

## **Section 7. Overtime**

### **7.1 Payment**

An employee who is assigned to work after completion of his/her regular shift or who is assigned to work to fill a shift or portion thereof outside his/her regular duty shift, shall be entitled to overtime compensation for all hours so worked, provided, however, that the overtime payment shall be computed at one and one-half (1-1/2) times the employee's 24-hour rate of pay in 15-minute increments as follows:

<b>Overtime Worked</b>	<b>Paid As</b>
1 through 15 minutes	15 minutes
16 through 30 minutes	30 minutes



31 through 45 minutes	45 minutes
46 through 60 minutes	60 minutes
61 through 75 minutes	75 minutes
etc.	

An employee assigned to work outside his/her regular shift to attend a meeting or participate in training shall be entitled to overtime compensation for all hours so worked, provided, however, that the overtime payment shall be computed at one and one-half (1-1/2) times the employee's eight hour rate of pay in fifteen (15) minute increments as set forth in the previous table.

Strike team overtime compensation shall be at the 24 hour overtime rate for all of the time spent on the Strike Team assignment.

An employee held over past the completion of his/her shift due to a trade will be compensated for overtime at that employee's overtime rate.

An employee having completed his/her regular duty shift and called back to work from home because of an emergency incident shall, upon reporting to work within a reasonable time after notification and commencing with the time of notification, receive not less than four hours overtime compensated at one and one-half (1 and 1/2) times his/her twenty-four (24) hour rate of pay.

A reasonable time is defined as drive time from home plus ½ hour, unless otherwise approved by the duty chief.

## 7.2 Procedures For Filling Absences:

~~The procedure for determining and filling overtime shall be that contained in the department policy. Overtime shall be determined and filled pursuant to Department policy and the provisions of this MOU.~~

## 7.3 Overtime Compensation

Overtime shall be paid in ~~conformance with~~ accordance with the contractual overtime provisions of this MOU and the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") at any time the FLSA applies to municipal governments.

~~The Fire Chief may temporarily assign employees in the classification of Firefighter, Fire Engineer or Fire Captain to a forty (40) hour week schedule for a full week for the purpose of such employee(s) attendance at training courses, conferences and/or meetings. During such temporary assignment, employees shall continue to receive their regular rate of pay as specified below.~~

### A. A.—Suppression/FLSA 7(k) Exempt Employees:

Any authorized time worked in excess of the employee's regular ~~workweek (or FLSA work period maximum) shift schedule (i.e. contractual overtime) or the maximum hours threshold for a 24 day FLSA work cycle~~ shall be considered overtime.

B. B. ~~Fire Prevention Personnel/40 Hour Employees:~~  
~~are assigned to a 2,080 hours per year schedule:~~

- B.1. Any authorized time worked in excess of the employee's regular workweek shall be considered overtime. Overtime compensation shall be compensable at the rate of one and one-half (1.5) times the employee's regular straight time rate of pay.
- B.2. Fire Prevention ~~Personnel~~ personnel have the option to accrue compensatory time off in lieu of overtime pay at the rate of one and one-half (1.5) hours for each hour worked. ~~Upon the approval of the Fire Department, e~~Compensatory time may be accrued but the total balance may not exceed one hundred and twenty (120) hours at any time.

Compensatory time off may be taken in lieu of overtime payment in accordance with the FLSA. Such time off shall be mutually agreeable to the employee and the supervisor taking into account (a) the normal schedule of work, (b) the anticipated peak hour workload based on past experience and (c) any emergency requirements for staff and services. Once an employee has accrued one hundred and twenty (120) hours of compensatory time off, the employee shall be paid for overtime worked until such time ~~that as~~ the balance drops below the cap. With written notice prior to June 1<sup>st</sup> and December 1<sup>st</sup> of each year, an employee may request to have all accrued compensatory time off paid to the employee on a separate payroll check.

- B.3. Fire Prevention ~~P~~personnel who are called back or otherwise requested to respond after 2200 hours shall be allowed ~~a delayed to delay their normal~~ start time equal to by the number of hours worked after 2200, if scheduled to work the same or next day. An employee shall be required to work a full shift, regardless of starting time.
- B.4. ~~Minimum call out compensation shall apply if cancelled en-route.~~ Fire Prevention personnel who are called back or otherwise requested to respond after completing their regular work day shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours call back pay at one and one-half (1.5) times their regular rate. The call back minimum is payable even if the employee is cancelled en-route.

C. C. ~~Suppression Employees Overtime Record:~~

The Fire Department shall provide the current overtime selection factor for each suppression employee per the on-line records management system.

D. D. ~~Rank-for-Rank Overtime:~~

The Department agrees that any day to day vacancies, not covered in MOU Section 23C, overtime will be assigned on a rank-for-rank basis unless an individual of equal rank is not

available to fill the position; then a pre-signed up qualified actor will be used to prevent a mandate or prevent the breaking of staffing rules. These Short-Term Acting assignments are intended to fill day-to-day vacancies that are for 10-shifts or less. If there is no one available through the pre-sign up system, then mandatory overtime within the rank will be utilized. The operational procedures of acting assignments are outlined in department policy.

In the case of an emergency and an officer and/or fire engineer is unavailable to be contacted, an acting assignment may be used to fill these ranks. The procedures pertaining to the selection of the employee for an acting position shall be followed. (See Section 23.A. of this M.O.U.).

#### **7.4 Overtime Maximum Limit**

Effective August 1, 2007, the maximum amount of shift-fill overtime will be eliminated. The Fire Chief will determine whether shift-fill overtime is limited to a specific number of shifts per month or year. Any such decision shall be based solely on safety concerns, operational need and the existence of unusual occurrences that may require the Department to extend personnel resources. Any decision to limit shift-fill overtime shall be discussed with the Union prior to implementation.

#### **Section 8. Department Related Court Time**

Employees who are required to report to work appear in court during their off-duty time for the purpose of appearing in court to testify about a work-related matter shall be compensated at their eight (8) hour overtime rate; provided that such compensation be no less than for all such time and shall receive a minimum of three (3) hours for court appearances in any assigned local court serving the cities of the Livermore- and Pleasanton Judicial District (currently the East County Hall of Justice in Dublin) and four (4) hours for court appearances outside the Livermore Pleasanton Judicial District assigned local court serving the cities of Livermore and Pleasanton.

#### **Section 9. Holiday Pay**

##### **Section 9.1 Holiday In Lieu**

Fifty-six (56) hour workweek employees shall be compensated for working holidays each year through receipt of holiday in lieu pay. Employees assigned to twenty-four (24) hour shift schedules shall receive holiday in lieu pay without regard for when holidays occur or whether such employees actually work on recognized holidays. This compensation shall be seven and one-half percent (7½%) of the employee's base salary at time of payment, plus special compensation as defined by PERS; except PERS-able FLSA overtime, uniform allowance, EPMC, and exclusive of any overtime. Holiday in lieu pay shall be paid on a prorated and bi-weekly basis. Holiday in lieu pay will be reported as special compensation within the meaning of Section 20636 of the California Government Code and Section 571(a)(5) of the CalPERS regulations and/or as defined pensionable compensation pursuant to the California Government Code and the CalPERS regulations as amended. Such compensation shall be

~~paid in two installments. Such payments are to be made on the first pay date on or after December 1 and the first pay date on or after June 1.~~

## **Section 9.2 Observed Holidays**

~~Employees shall receive prorated holiday pay upon termination.~~

The following holidays will be are observed for Fire Prevention Personnel: not normally scheduled or expected to work on recognized holidays. Such employees are permitted to be off work on observed holidays without the loss of pay and do not qualify for the holiday in lieu pay provided per Section 9.1 of this MOU.

1. New Year's Day
2. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day (third Monday of January)
3. President's Day (third Monday of February)
4. Memorial Day (last Monday of May)
5. Independence Day
6. Labor Day (first Monday of September)
7. Veterans' Day
8. Thanksgiving Day
9. Day following Thanksgiving
10. Christmas Eve Day
11. Christmas Day

## **Section 9.3 Work on a Holiday-Fire Prevention Personnel**

If the Fire Chief, or the Fire Chief's designee, determines the employee's services are required on an observed holiday, the employee shall receive overtime compensation for all hours worked on the holiday.

## **Section 9.4 Floating Holiday**

Fire Prevention personnel will receive three (3) floating holidays per year with pay as follows:

Floating holidays for eligible employees shall be credited and taken in accordance with the regulations set forth in this section. Each payroll calendar year, eligible employees will be credited with floating holidays at the rate of 24 (twenty-four) hours for each 40-hour employee per year. Employees not in a pay status at the beginning of the payroll calendar year will not be credited with floating holidays until their return to work. In such cases, floating holidays will be prorated for the year once the employee returns to work. New employees who join the City after the start of the calendar year will receive floating holidays on a prorated basis.

Floating holidays are not cumulative and must be taken in the same calendar year credited and do not accumulate or carry over to subsequent years.

## **Section 10. Documentation Regarding Organized Mess**

~~The Department shall provide the documentation required by the Internal Revenue Service for the deduction of the cost of meals taken as part of an organized mess. Documentation is as follows:~~

In order that all members of each Fire Company will be available at all times to respond to an emergency as quickly and efficiently as possible, and in order to provide for harmony and fellowship among the members of Fire Companies, there shall be a common organized mess at each Fire Station to which all bargaining unit employees (except management and staff employees) assigned to that Station shall be required to contribute on a daily basis. The Captain on each shift at each Station shall determine the amount of the contribution to be made to the common mess by members of that shift and shall normally make all assignments as to the duties to be performed by those employees in regard to the common mess. The Employer shall not be responsible for financially supporting or otherwise paying the cost of any on duty meal. Employees may be exempted from the common mess only for valid medical or religious reasons that have been verified to the City's satisfaction.

This provision is intended to satisfy Internal Revenue Service requirements as to the existence of a requirement that employees contribute to an organized mess.

## **Section 11. Certification/License Pay Fire Prevention Certificate Pay**

~~Fire prevention personnel hired after July 1, 2012 shall receive an additional four percent (4%) of base salary for obtaining the California Fire Service Training and Education System Fire Prevention Officer (Level 1) certificate. Employees' classifications represented by the Union shall be paid certification/license pay as follows:~~

~~Suppression—Employees shall maintain their EMT certifications or Paramedic licenses in order to be eligible for certification/license pay:~~

~~Effective as soon as administratively feasible in 2012—1% of base salary~~

~~Effective July 6, 2013—an additional 1% of base salary for a total of 2%.~~

~~Effective January 4, 2014—an additional 2% of base salary for a total of 4%.~~

~~Prevention: Employees hired after July 1, 2012 shall obtain the California State Fire—Fire Prevention Officer (Level 1) certification to be eligible to receive the certification pay in accordance to the schedule under "Suppression" above. (Employees hired prior to July 1, 2012 shall be "grandfathered" for the purposes of receiving the certification pay.)~~

## **Section 12. Paramedic Program and Compensation**

### **12.1 Program Description**

The Department intends to maintain advanced life support ("ALS") capability through the assignment of one (1) designated Firefighter/Paramedic on each Engine Company and each Truck Company. Employees hired as Firefighter/Paramedics must maintain their paramedic licenses and participate in the

paramedic program as a condition of employment, unless allowed to ~~drop their license~~ withdraw from the program in accordance with ~~under~~ Section 12.3 below.

~~Paramedics will lose their premium pay if they promote. Current Paramedics of rank (i.e. prior LFD grandfathered Captain) shall be allowed to keep their Paramedic premium pay even though they will not be considered the designated or "assigned" paramedic to a company once a Firefighter/paramedic becomes a member of their company. However, a Paramedic of rank will be required to give up the paramedic premium pay if promoted.~~

## 12.2 Paramedic Staffing

Minimum ~~P~~paramedic staffing shall ~~be~~ consist of one assigned Firefighter/Paramedic per Company.

## 12.3 Withdrawal Process

~~It is understood by the parties that those designated as Firefighter/Paramedics as defined in Section 12.1 shall be permitted to withdraw are expected to maintain their paramedic licenses and participate in the paramedic program unless the Fire Chief approves their withdrawal from the Pparamedic program with the approval of the Fire Chief, according to in accordance with~~ the following procedure:

- A. Paramedics must serve a minimum of five (5) years in the paramedic program absent extraordinary circumstances. A Paramedics wishing to leave who seek to withdraw from the Pparamedic program upon expiration of their after five (5) years of Pparamedic service in the program shall advise the Fire Chief of their desire to do so six (6) months in advance.
- B. The ~~Fire~~ Department shall maintain a sufficient minimum number of ~~one Firefighter/Paramedic per Company~~ paramedics to satisfy the minimum paramedic staffing requirement and to meet operational needs. A verified ability to staff the minimum need must exist before any employee is allowed to leave the paramedic program.
- C. In the event that there are multiple requests for withdrawal from the paramedic program, priority shall be based on ~~d~~Department seniority, regardless of rank.
- D. Paramedics wishing to leave the program must either maintain their paramedic license or obtain an Alameda County EMT certification prior to withdrawal and maintain this certification as a condition of employment.
- E. ~~Any Paramedics who promoted to a higher rank will no longer receive premium paramedic pay may maintain their paramedic licenses. If the employee wishes to maintain his/her license, t~~The Department agrees to cover the costs of ~~C.E.~~ licensing and continuing education as outlined in Section 12.4 of this ~~M.O.U~~ MOU.

## 12.4 Paramedic Licensing and Continuing Education

Paramedics are responsible for maintaining their paramedic licenses and fulfilling all state and county licensure, accreditation and continuing education requirements.

~~The Department will pay the cost of licensing and testing of paramedic personnel all fees and cost associated with paramedic licensure and accreditation for all employees in the paramedic program, including application and licensure fees tuition and textbooks for required classes courses and certifications, and approved overtime for C.E. to complete continuing education classes outside of an employee's normal working hours.~~

~~The Department agrees to provide on duty continuing education will be provided on duty classes whenever possible. Any required continuing education outside of the normal working hours will be compensated by approved overtime. Tuition and textbooks for required courses shall be paid for by the Department.~~

### **12.5 — Licensing**

~~It is understood by the parties that all employees holding special Paramedic compensation status shall have an obligation to maintain that status unless permitted to leave the program. Paramedics shall be responsible for maintaining their license and shall fulfill all continuing education requirements. The Fire Department shall cover the costs of testing and licensing.~~

### **12.6-5 Paramedic Compensation Pay**

Paramedics will receive additional compensation while serving in the assignment. The compensation received shall be equal to eight percent (8%) of the employee's base pay.

Paramedics who promote to Engineer or Captain (i.e. paramedics of rank) are not eligible for the paramedic premium pay unless designated or assigned as the Company paramedic. Current Paramedics of rank (i.e. prior LFD grandfathered Captain) shall be allowed to keep their Paramedic premium pay even though they will not be considered the designated or assigned paramedic to a Company once a Firefighter/Paramedic becomes a member of their Company. However, paramedics of rank who maintain their paramedic licenses and participation in the paramedic program will receive an additional one-hundred dollars (\$100) per month stipend.

### **12.6 Paramedic Preceptor/Field Training Officer (FTO) Pay**

Paramedics who serve as preceptors/field training officers to paramedic students/trainees/interns shall receive sixty dollars (\$60) per shift when precepting/training a paramedic students/trainee/intern.

## **Section 13. Vacations**

### **13.1 Vacation Eligibility**

All employees ~~shall be entitled to annual accrue paid vacation leave from their date of hire and may begin using accrued paid vacation leave with pay except for the following: after six (6) months of continuous services with the Department.~~

~~Employees who have served less than six (6) months in the service of the Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department. However, these employees shall accrue vacation leave from the date of hire.~~

### ~~13.2~~ **13.2—Vacation Allowance Accrual**

~~A. Each eligible employee on Employees assigned to a fifty-six (56) hour workweek schedule shall accrue paid vacation with pay from the date of hire leave in accordance with the following schedule:~~

<b>Years of Continuous Service</b>	<b>Monthly Accrual Rate</b>
First through fourth year	12 hours
Fifth through ninth year	16 hours
Tenth through twelfth year	20 hours
Thirteenth through fifteenth year	22 hours
Sixteenth year and above	24 hours

~~Accrued vacation shall be credited to the employee's account biweekly.~~

~~B. Each eligible employee Employees assigned to on a forty (40) hour workweek schedule shall ~~paid~~ accrue ~~paid~~ vacation leave with pay in accordance with the following schedule:~~

<b>Years of Continuous Service</b>	<b>Monthly Accrual Rate</b>
First through fourth year	8.57 hours
Fifth through ninth <del>year</del>	<del>11.43</del> hours
Tenth through <del>Twelfth</del> twelfth <del>year</del>	<del>14.29</del> hours
Thirteenth through fifteenth <del>year</del>	<del>15.71</del> hours
Sixteenth year or more	17.14 hours

Accrued vacation ~~leave~~ shall be credited to ~~the each~~ employee's account biweekly.

~~Any employee except a probationary employee may be allowed to incur a fifty-six (56) hour deficit beyond the vacation leave credited to his/her account.~~

~~Except as provided below in Section 13.4 and for those employees working a forty (40) hour workweek, vacations must be used in increments of either twenty-four (24) or twelve (12) hours. When used in twelve-hour increments, vacations must be taken from either 0800 to 2000, or 2000 to 0800. Employees may take less than twenty-four (24) or twelve (12) vacation hours provided they find their own relief.~~

~~The Fire Chief may, however, approve vacation requests in less than twelve (12) hour increments to accommodate employee enrollment in college or university courses. The courses or classes attended must, however, be appropriate to employee development. The decision of the Fire Chief shall be final.~~



### 13.3 Vacation Accumulation

~~Any e~~Eligible employees may ~~defer accumulate and maintain~~ up to a maximum of four hundred thirty-two (432) hours of ~~his/her annual accrued~~ vacation ~~entitlement to the next calendar year~~ leave.

~~Effective January 5, 2013, no e~~Employees ~~will be~~ are not allowed to accrue vacation hours above the cap. At any time an employee reaches four hundred thirty-two (432) hours cap, the employee will cease accruing additional vacation leave until such time as the balance falls below the cap. However, in the event an employee has requested to take vacation but been denied or ~~there were other otherwise prevented from using vacation leave due to~~ extenuating circumstances, ~~that prevented the employee from taking vacation,~~ the employee may submit a written request to the City Manager, or ~~designated Assistant City Manager~~ designee, for special consideration to carry over vacation balances beyond four hundred thirty-two (432) hours.

Effective September 15, 2012, any accrued vacation leave in excess of three hundred sixty (360) hours ~~will be~~ was placed in a separate Excess Vacation Bank for each affected employee. Employees shall be entitled to use the hours in the Excess Vacation Bank for vacation or for extended leave in the same manner as regular vacation hours. The hours shall be paid out at the pay rate of the employee when utilized.

### 13.4 Vacation Scheduling and Use

Vacation selection will be subject to the procedure stated in the department policy except for those areas specifically stated differently in this article.

- A. ~~In the month of~~ During January of each year, ~~each~~ employees ~~in order of department seniority~~ shall be granted an opportunity to choose vacation time in order of Department seniority. The January selections shall be for the period from February 1 to January 31 of the following year. Each employee in turn (based on ~~department~~ Department seniority) will have an initial choice of vacation. Vacation selections can be for as many shifts/hours as the employee desires, ~~up to his/her~~ not to exceed the total ~~accrued amount at the time of his/her requested vacation~~ number of vacation leave hours the employee will have accrued by the date of the requested vacation, provided the vacation as long as the shifts/hours are taken consecutively. Once the most senior employee ~~has chosen his/her~~ makes an initial vacation selection, it becomes the next most senior employee's ~~choice~~ will make an initial selection of vacation shifts/hours. This process shall continue until all employees have ~~had their~~ an opportunity to make an initial selection of vacation. After ~~the initial selections have been made by~~ all employees make their initial selections, the second choice vacation selections ~~can begin~~ will occur. Second choice vacation selections will be done in the same manner as the first choice selections. After the second choice vacation selections are completed, the third choice selections can begin and so on until no one wishes to choose any more vacation time.
- B. For the annual scheduling done in January ~~of each year, no more than~~ seven (7) persons of any rank ~~shall be~~ are allowed to be off on vacation leave at any given time. Vacation requests by an

eight (8th) or additional person requires the requesting person to provide the name of ~~his/her~~ replacement/the coverage person.

~~C.~~ Personnel/ Employees may take vacation on Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve and Christmas Day after all shifts have been filled and if they provide the name of the coverage person.

~~B.~~

D. Fire suppression employees assigned to 24-hour shifts schedules must use vacation leave in increments of either twenty-four (24) or twelve (12) hours. When used in twelve (12) hour increments, vacations must be taken from either 0800 to 2000 hours or 2000 to 0800 hours. Employees may take less than twenty-four (24) or twelve (12) hours provided they find their own coverage. However, the Fire Chief may approve vacation requests in less than twelve (12) hour increments to accommodate employee enrollment in college or university courses. The courses or classes attended must be appropriate to employee development. The decision of the Fire Chief shall be final.

E. If two (2) or more employees from the same employing agency have the same employment date, seniority will be determined by placement on the employment list. If two (2) or more employees from different hiring agencies have the same employment date and are from different hiring agencies, seniority is will be determined by drawing from a hat.

F. Fire Prevention Personnel will utilize a vacation scheduling program consistent with the process used for suppression personnel.

G. Authorized emergency vacation may be allowed due to special circumstances and temporary assignments will be made to accommodate such a need.

H. Employees may cancel previously scheduled ~~V~~vacation ~~can be cancelled~~ at any time by notifying the Department at least, provided it is done twenty-four (24) hours before/prior to the start of the shift. However, the on-duty chief officer must also be notified whenever vacation is cancelled less than six If an employee cancels vacation after the vacancy has been filled (inside (6) days) prior to the shift, he/she must call and notify the on-duty chief officer. Employees are allowed a maximum of six (6) vacation cancellations per calendar year inside- with less than the six (6) days' advance notice.

~~C.~~

I. Vacation shall be prescheduled in accordance with department policy provided the leave time requested has been earned or will be earned by the time it is taken. The Fire Chief may grant the permit non-probationary employees to use of up to fifty-six (56) hours of paid vacation time to be taken beyond what has been earned leave in advance of accruing such hours to their

~~vacation leave accounts. This~~The use of such leave shall not be prescheduled or considered earned vacation for accrual purposes.

~~Vacation can be cancelled at any time, provided it is done 24 hours before the start of the shift. If an employee cancels vacation after the vacancy has been filled (inside 6 days) he/she must call and notify the on duty chief officer. Employees are allowed a maximum of 6 vacation cancellations per calendar year inside the 6 days.~~

J. When an employee carries a negative balance no additional vacation may be taken until a sufficient number of vacation hours have been earned.

~~Authorized emergency vacation may be allowed due to special circumstances and temporary assignments will be made to accommodate.~~

~~Personnel may take vacation on Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve and Christmas if they provide the name of the coverage person.~~

~~If two (2) or more employees have the same employment date, seniority will be determined by placement on the employment list. If two (2) or more employees have the same employment date and are from different hiring agencies, seniority is determined by drawing from a hat.~~

~~In the month of January of each year, each employee in order of department seniority shall be granted an opportunity to choose vacation time. The January selections shall be for the period from February 1 to January 31 of the following year. Each employee in turn (based on department seniority) will have an initial choice of vacation. Vacation selections can be for as many shifts/hours as the employee desires, up to his/her total accrued amount at the time of his/her requested vacation as long as the shifts/hours are taken consecutively. Once the most senior employee has chosen his/her initial vacation, it becomes the next senior employee's choice. This process shall continue until all employees have had their initial selection of vacation. After the initial selections have been made by all employees, the second choice vacation selections can begin. Second choice vacation selections will be done in the same manner as the first choice selections. After the second choice vacation selections are completed, the third choice selections can begin and so on until no one wishes to choose any more vacation time.~~

~~Fire Prevention Personnel will utilize a vacation scheduling program consistent with the process used for suppression personnel.~~

### **13.5 Vacation Pay at Termination**

~~Any~~All employees ~~of the Department~~ shall be paid for all ~~accrued~~ vacation leave earned prior to the effective date of termination. Such compensation ~~for earned vacation~~ shall be paid to ~~the~~ employees in one lump sum in a final check. ~~The e~~Employees understands that if there is a deficit balance in their vacation leave accounts at termination, that deficit amount ~~would~~will be deducted from final compensation.

### **13.6 Vacation Sell Back**

~~Effective upon adoption of this Agreement, e~~Employees may request to sell back up to ~~forty-eight (48)~~ two hundred forty (240) hours of accrued vacation leave in each calendar year. Employees may sell ~~time back accrued vacation leave~~ in one (1) hour increments with a minimum sell back of eight (8) hours on the first pay date ~~in on or after February 1<sup>st</sup> and on the first pay date on or after August 1<sup>st</sup>~~ March, June, September and December of each year. Written requests for payment must be made by the employee fifteen (15) days in advance of the first pay date in ~~February and August~~ March, June, September and December.

## **Section 14. Sick Leave**

### **14.1 Sick Leave Accrual – 56 Hour Shift Employees**

All employees assigned to 56-hour work schedules shall earn paid sick leave at the rate of eleven and two-tenths (11.2) hours for each month of service while assigned to a 56-hour work schedule. Probationary employees assigned to a 56-hour work schedule who successfully complete their 18-month new employee probationary period shall receive a one-time lump sum credit of four hundred seventy and four-tenths (470.4) hours of paid sick leave in addition to the sick leave accrued during their probationary period.

Employees assigned to 56-hour work schedules may accumulate a maximum of 2,912 sick leave hours.

Non-probationary employees assigned to a 56-hour work schedule are allowed a sick leave deficit of fifty-six (56) hours beyond that actually earned. Probationary employees assigned to a 56-hour work schedule are allowed a sick leave deficit of thirty-three and six-tenths (33.6) hours beyond that actually earned.

Employees on leave of absence with pay in lieu of temporary disability payments pursuant to Section 4850 of the Labor Code shall accumulate sick leave during said leave of absence in accordance with this section.

~~Employees shall earn sick leave at the rate of eleven and two-tenths (11.2) hours for each month of service while on a 56-hour schedule and eight (8) hours for each month of service while on a 40-hour schedule. An employee may be allowed a sick leave deficit of fifty-six (56) hours beyond that actually earned. Employees on leave of absence with pay in lieu of temporary disability payments pursuant to Section 4850 of the Labor Code shall accumulate sick leave during said leave of absence, in accordance with the provisions of this section.~~

~~During his/her 18-month probationary period each new full-time employee shall earn sick leave at the rate of eleven and two-tenths (11.2) hours for each month of service. Upon successfully completing his/her probationary period each new employee shall receive four hundred and seventy point four (470.4) hours sick leave credit in addition to that earned during probation. Upon completion of five (5) years service every employee shall thereafter accumulate sick leave at a rate of eleven and two-tenths (11.2) hours per month to a total of 2,016. For each month an employee maintains a sick leave balance of 2,016 hours or more, he/she shall be credited with an additional 11.2 hours of sick leave. In no event shall an employee accrue more than 2,912 hours of sick leave. A probationary employee may be allowed a sick leave deficit of thirty-three and six-tenths (33.6) hours beyond that actually earned. Employees on leave of absence with pay in lieu of temporary disability payments pursuant to Section 4850 of the Labor~~

~~Code shall accumulate sick leave during said leave of absence, in accordance with the provisions of this section.~~

## **14.2 Sick Leave Accrual – 40 Hour Employees**

All employees assigned to forty (40) hour work schedules shall earn paid sick leave at the rate of eight (8) hours for each month of service while assigned to a 40-hour work schedule. Probationary employees assigned to a 40-hour work schedule who successfully complete their 12-month new employee probationary period shall receive an one-time lump sum credit of three-hundred eighty-four (384.0) hours of paid sick leave in addition to the sick leave accrued during their probationary period.

Employees assigned to forty (40) hour work schedules may accumulate an unlimited number of sick leave hours; however, sick leave hours accumulated in excess of one thousand four hundred and forty (1440) may be used solely for CalPERS services credit in accordance with Government Code Section 20862.8 “Credit for Unused Sick Leave”.

Employees are allowed a sick leave deficit of twenty-four (24) hours beyond that actually earned.

Employees on leave of absence with pay in lieu of temporary disability payments pursuant to Section 4850 of the Labor Code shall accumulate sick leave during said leave of absence in accordance with this section.

~~All new full time employees shall accrue sick leave at the rate of eight (8.0) hours for each month of service. Each new full time employee shall during his/her one year probationary period, earn sick leave at a rate of eight (8.0) hours for each month of service. Upon successfully completing his/her one-year probationary period each new employees shall receive three hundred eighty four (384.0) hours sick leave credit in addition to that earned during probation. Upon completion of five (5) year service, every employee shall thereafter accumulate sick leave at a rate of eight (8.00) hours per month.~~

~~Employees may accumulate an unlimited number of sick leave hours; except, however, hours accumulated in excess of one thousand four hundred and forty (1440) may be used only to apply toward additional years of retirement service credit under the current PERS “Credit for Unused Sick Leave,” Section 20862.8. An employee may be allowed a sick leave deficit of twenty four (24) hours beyond that actually earned. Employees on leave of absence with pay in lieu of temporary disability payments pursuant to Section 4850 of the Labor Code shall accumulate sick leave during said leave of absence, in accordance with the provisions of this section.~~

## **14.3 Sick Leave Usage**

Employees may use accumulated sick leave in one (1) hour increments as follows:

- A. For the employee's own diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition or for the employee's own preventative care, including routine medical and dental appointments.
- B. For the diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition or preventative care for an employee's family member, including routine medical and dental appointments. For purposes of this provision, "family member" includes: a biological, adopted, or foster child, stepchild, legal ward, or a child to whom the employee stands in loco parentis, a biological, adoptive or foster parent, stepparent, or legal guardian of an employee or the employee's spouse or registered domestic partner, or a person who stood in loco parentis when the employee was a minor child, spouse, registered domestic partner, grandparent, grandchild, or sibling. Employees assigned to a 56-hour work schedule may utilize a maximum of one hundred forty-four (144) hours of accumulated sick leave per calendar year and employees assigned to a 40-hour work schedule may utilize a maximum of (96) hours of accumulated sick leave for this purpose.
- C. Sick Leave may also be used to obtain any relief or services related to being a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking including the following with appropriate certification of the need for such services:

- A temporary restraining order or restraining order.
- Other injunctive relief to help ensure the health, safety or welfare of themselves or their children.
- To seek medical attention for injuries caused by domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking.
- To obtain services from a domestic violence shelter, program, or rape crisis center as a result of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking.
- To obtain psychological counseling related to an experience of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking.
- To participate in safety planning and take other actions to increase safety from future domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, including temporary or permanent relocation.

~~— Sick leave with pay shall be granted to all full-time employees. Sick leave shall not be considered a right, which an employee may use at his/her discretion, but only shall be allowed as follows:~~

- ~~A. — In cases of necessity and actual personal sickness or disability of the employee.~~
- ~~B. — For medical and dental appointments of the employee, at the discretion of the Fire Chief or his/her designee.~~
- ~~C. — For the care of or attendance upon the sickness or disability of members of his/her immediate family. — A maximum of one hundred forty four (144) hours of sick leave for 56-hour employees and ninety-six (96) hours for 40-hour employees may be used for this purpose. — The immediate family shall consist of the spouse, children of employee or spouse, parents of employee or spouse, brothers, sisters or other individuals whose~~

~~relationship to the employee is that of a dependent or near dependent. The Fire Chief shall grant such leave and determine the amount thereof, provided, however, that Human Resources shall first, where necessary, pass upon sufficiency of relationship.~~

~~D. — Sick leave is to be reported per department policy.~~

~~E. — If an employee is on vacation and becomes sick, he/she may call as stated in section D above and request to be taken off vacation and placed on sick leave for those times employee is eligible for sick leave as stated in sections (A), (B), and (C) above.~~

~~An employee eligible for temporary disability payments may use accumulated sick leave in order to maintain his regular income; provided, however, that the employee shall be allowed a credit towards sick leave to the extent that temporary disability payments are retained by the Department.~~

~~In order to receive compensation while absent on sick leave, the employee shall notify the scheduling system per department procedure prior to the start of his/her scheduled duty shift. Said notification requirement may be waived by the Fire Chief or his/her designee to address personal emergencies.~~

~~When the absence is for more than two full shifts, one shift equals 24 hours, the employee may be required to file a physician's certificate or a personal affidavit with the Fire Chief stating the cause of the absence. However, if the employee uses excessive sick leave and/or demonstrates a pattern of sick leave misuse, abuse or falsification (i.e. using sick leave in conjunction with days off, vacation, holidays or otherwise) the employee may be required to file a physician certificate or a personal affidavit following an absence of a single work shift or otherwise comply with the City's Attendance Management Program. Any purposed changes to the City's current Attendance Management Program shall be negotiated with the Union.~~

#### **14.4 Sick Leave Increments Procedure**

~~— Charge for sick leave used shall be on the basis of one (1) hour for each hour used.~~

A. Employees are required to report the need for sick leave in accordance with Department policy. Employees shall notify the scheduling system prior to the start of their scheduled duty shift when utilizing sick leave. The Fire Chief or designee may waive this requirement based on exigent or unique circumstances.

B. If an employee is on vacation and a permissible use of sick leave occurs while on vacation, the employee may report the need for sick leave in accordance with Department policy and request to be taken off vacation leave and be placed on sick leave for the hours the employee is eligible for sick leave as specified in Section 14.2 of this MOU.

C. The Fire Chief may request a physician's certificate or a personal affidavit verifying an employee's need for sick leave when there is evidence of excessive sick leave usages and/or a

pattern of sick leave misuse, abuse or falsification (i.e., using sick leave in conjunction with days off, vacation, holidays or otherwise).

- D. Employees who are eligible for temporary disability payments may use accumulated sick leave in order to maintain their regular income; provided, however, the employee is allowed a credit towards sick leave to the extent that temporary disability payments are retained by the Department.
- E. Any proposed changes to the Department's current attendance management program shall be negotiated with the Union.

## **Section 15. Leaves**

### **15.1 Leave of Absence**

The City Managers may grant a full-time regular employee leave of absence without pay for a period not to exceed three (3) months. After three (3) months, the leave of absence may be extended if so authorized by the Department. No such leave shall be granted except in writing stating the reasons for the requested leave. Upon expiration of the leave the employee shall be reinstated in the position held at the time the leave was granted. Failure on the part of an employee on leave to report to work promptly at its expiration or within a reasonable time after notice to return to duty, shall be cause for discipline. The Fire Chief may grant a full-time regular employee a leave of absence without pay for one (1) calendar week. During unpaid leave, an employee shall not accrue vacation or sick leave benefits, nor shall said time be considered service time. Holiday in lieu payments for which an employee would otherwise be eligible shall be adjusted on a pro-rata basis to reflect an employee's leave time.

### **15.2 Floating Holiday**

~~Fire Prevention Personnel will receive three (3) floating holidays per year with pay as follows:~~

~~Floating holidays for eligible employees shall be credited and taken in accordance with the regulations set forth in this section. Each payroll calendar year eligible employees will be credited with floating holidays at the rate of 24 (twenty four) hours for each 40-hour employee per year. Employees not in a pay status at the beginning of the payroll calendar year will not be credited with floating holidays until their return to work. In such cases, floating holidays will be prorated for the year once the employee returns to work. New employees who join the City after the start of the calendar year will receive floating holidays on a prorated basis.~~

~~Floating holidays are not cumulative and must be taken in the same year it is credited.~~

### **15.32 Jury Service Leave**

Employees who are summoned for jury service in state or federal court shall receive their regular pay for all time they are necessarily absent from work in order to satisfy their jury service. The City may require proof of the time spent in such jury service as a condition of receiving the time off with pay and any monies received by the employee for their jury service shall be remitted to the City. Employees who are



released from jury service and are not required to return for additional jury service the following day shall report directly to work to complete the remainder of their shift or workday. Employees who are required to serve as jurors shall not have their regular starting and ending work times changed as a result of jury service.

~~Each regular or probationary employee of the Department who is required to serve as a trial juror is entitled to be absent from his/her duties with the Department during the "period" of such service or while necessarily being in court as the result of such a call. When the employee's services are "not required" or upon "dismissal" from court, the employee shall return directly to work to complete the balance of the workday or shift. The employee is allowed his or her regular salary provided the employee compensates the Department for any fees received for service other than travel pay. If the employee does not compensate the Department for such fees, the salary shall be lowered by the amount of such fees.~~

For the purposes of this section:

~~"Period" shall mean that period of time from the moment the employee is chosen as a juror until he/she is dismissed by the judge.~~

~~Services that are "not required" shall mean those portions of time that an employee who is a prospective juror, has not yet been chosen as a juror and has been released for the day but is required to return at a later date for further consideration as a prospective juror.~~

~~"Dismissal" from court is when the judge dismisses the employee as a juror or prospective juror.~~

### **15.4.3 Leaves Resulting from Subpoena**

- A. Employees subpoenaed or called to appear as a witness in an administrative or legal proceeding about a work-related matter shall be granted time off with pay for all time necessarily spent in compliance of the subpoena or request to testify, including travel time, waiting time and time spent testifying as a witness.
- B. Employees subpoenaed or called to appear as a witness on behalf of the City or Department during their off duty hours shall receive compensation as hours worked in accordance with Section 7 of this MOU for all time necessarily spent in compliance of the subpoena or request to testify, including travel time, waiting time and time spent testifying as a witness.

~~Leaves of absence with pay shall be granted to a person while going to and from court and answering a subpoena as a witness on behalf of the Fire Department. If sent off duty, employee will be paid per Section 7.1 of this M.O.U.~~

### **15.5.4 Military Leave**

Military leave shall be granted in accordance with the provisions of law. All employees entitled to military leave shall give the Fire Chief an opportunity within the limits of military regulations to determine when such leave shall be taken and may modify the employee's work schedule to accommodate the request for leave.

### **15.6-5 FMLA Family, Medical and Pregnancy Disability Leave**

The ~~Department~~ City will abide by ~~Federal and State Family Leave Acts~~ all federal and state family, medical and pregnancy disability leave laws.

### **15.7-6 Catastrophic Leave**

The ~~Department~~ City will ~~implement~~ maintain a Catastrophic Leave Policy as outlined in Appendix B to this MOU.

### **15.87 Bereavement Leave**

Employees are entitled to paid leave from duty (including shift trade days) for up to two (2) shifts (48 hours) for fire suppression personnel and up to forty (40) hours for fire prevention/40-hour personnel in order to attend the funeral or memorial service of an immediate family member and/or to assist with matters relating to the decedent's estate. Employees may utilize other paid leaves (including sick leave) to extend bereavement leave when approved by the Fire Chief.

~~In the event of a death in the immediate family, employees may take paid bereavement leave of up to 48 hours for fire suppression personnel and 40 hours for 40-hour work week personnel per event. Employees may utilize other paid leaves (including sick leave) to extend bereavement leave, subject to approval of the Fire Chief.~~

~~In this context only,~~ For purposed of this provision, immediate family shall be defined as: spouse, domestic partner, child, foster child who resided with the employee at the time of his/her death, stepchild, mother, father, stepmother, stepfather, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother, stepbrother, sister, stepsister, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandmother, grandfather, spouse's grandmother, spouse's grandfather, son-in-law, daughter-in-law or grandchildren.

### **15.8 15.815.9 — Union Leave Bank**

#### **A. Leave Donations**

Effective the first full pay period in July of each year, ~~each~~ active bargaining unit employee may voluntarily elect to contribute to the Union Leave Bank by reducing ~~his/her~~ their individual vacation accrual by ~~four-six (46)~~ four (4) hours for 56 hour personnel and ~~either two (2)~~ four (4) hours of vacation accrual or compensatory time for 40 hour personnel. The contribution will be credited to the Union Leave Bank. If, at the end of any fiscal year, the Union Leave Bank has a balance of more than ~~720~~ 1500 hours, the ~~exchange~~ contribution of hours described above will not occur for that fiscal year.

Employees hired during the year will have no deduction until the following fiscal year's leave bank transfer. Employees separating employment during the year will receive no credit for or return of hours contributed to the Union Leave Bank.

~~The City will administer taxes as believed to be consistent with all applicable laws governing the taxation of these donated hours. The City takes no responsibility should the IRS or any other governing agency prescribe a different interpretation of tax law. This liability will fall solely on the bargaining unit and its members. The union will indemnify the City for any claims both actual winnings and attorneys fees. The City will choose its own attorney in these matters.~~

B. Usage of the Union Leave Bank

~~When a bargaining unit employee has received the appropriate approval to be absent from his/her schedule shift(s) for union business, payment of the employee(s) covering for the shifts(s), at the applicable regular or overtime rate, will be made, hour for hour, from the Union Leave Bank. The employee absent from work on union business shall receive pay for their regularly scheduled shift, as such absence shall be recorded as paid Union Leave.~~

Authorization for use of the Union Leave Bank

Union Leave Bank may be utilized by bargaining unit employees for scheduled work absences contingent upon the following when all of the following conditions are met:

1. The Aabsence is for a union authorized event or purpose.
2. Use of Union Leave Bank for absence has A Union official has provided prior written approval of an authorized union official for the use of the Union Leave Bank to cover the absence.
3. The Union Leave Bank has Ssufficient balance exists in Union Leave Bank hours to reimburse the City for at the absence at applicable regular and overtime rates to provide coverage for the absence.
4. The Aabsence is approved in writing by shift Battalion Chief.

~~Approval for use of the leave will be denied if there are insufficient hours in the Leave Bank to pay for the coverage of shifts during the proposed absence.~~

~~Shift Coverage: The Battalion Chief shall secure a replacement to cover the shifts resulting from an approved Union Leave absence, pursuant to in accordance with; the current practice for obtaining shift replacements. In the event Union Leave is sought at a time when there are inadequate hours in the leave bank to cover the leave, employees may seek a shift trade, vacation or comp time in accordance with current policy and practice. However, nothing in this section shall supersede the Fire Chief's duty to maintain management control over the Department to ensure adequate staffing for daily operations and emergency situations.~~

C. Payment for Union Leave

~~Time Card Coding: When bargaining unit employees receive the appropriate approval to be absent from their scheduled shift(s) for a union authorized event or purpose, payment to the employee(s) covering the open shifts(s) shall be made at the employee's applicable regular or overtime rate on an hour-for-hour basis from the Union Leave Bank. Employees absent from work on Union Leave shall receive pay for their regularly scheduled shift as paid union leave, and Employees covering open shifts for employees absent on Union Leave and employees absent on union leave shall code their time cards accordingly.~~

#### D. Indemnification

1. The City will administer the Union Leave Bank in the manner believed to be consistent with all applicable laws governing the taxation of the donated hours. The City takes no responsibility should the IRS or any other governing agency prescribe a different interpretation of applicable tax law. Any liability resulting from the reporting of taxes will fall solely on the Union and its members. As such, the Union will indemnify and defend the City against any tax claims that arise in whole or in part from its administration of the Union Leave Bank, including reasonable attorney fees.
2. -The City assumes no responsibility for how union time is utilized. Time spent on union leave is not considered work time for purpose of worker's compensation or any other purpose. The Union will indemnify and defend the City against any claim that arises in whole or part from the activities of employees utilizing such leave, including reasonable attorney fees.

~~Disclaimer of Liability: The City assumes no responsibility for how the leave time is used. Time spent on Union Leave is not considered time worked for purposes of worker's compensation or any other purpose and the Union shall indemnify and defend the City for any claim that arises in whole or part from the activities of employees utilizing such leave. The union will indemnify the City for any claims both actual winnings and attorneys' fees. The City will choose its own attorney in these matters.~~

~~Overtime: Time spent on Union Leave is not counted as time worked for purposes of calculating City or FLSA overtime. Time spent by employees covering for those on Union Leave is counted as time worked for purposes of overtime. The union will indemnify the City for any OT compensation claims both actual winnings and attorneys' fees. The City will choose its own attorney in these matters.~~

~~No Waiver of Rights: Nothing in this section shall supersede the Fire Chief's duty to maintain management control over shifts to ensure that the daily operation of the Fire Department and emergency situations are adequately covered.~~

### **Section 16. Health and Welfare**

#### **16.1 Hospital and Medical Care - Active Employees**

##### A. A. Contributions

The City will continue to contribute a monthly amount for each employee no greater than the family rate of the lowest cost HMO plan.

Effective January 1, 2015 ~~a~~All employees participating in the City's health plans will contribute one of the following two amounts, whichever is greater:

1. \$25.00 per month
2. The difference between the family rate of the lowest cost HMO and the premium of the employee's more expensive plan selection.

Contributions will be deducted from the employee's paycheck on a pre-tax and bi-weekly basis.

Effective January 2019~~2020~~, all employees participating in the City's health plans will contribute one of the following two amounts, whichever is greater:

1. \$25.00 per month for employee only coverage; \$25 per month for employee+1 coverage; or \$50 per month for family coverage.
2. The difference between the family rate of the lowest cost HMO and the premium of the employee's more expensive plan selection.

Contributions will be deducted from the employee's paycheck on a pre-tax and bi-weekly basis.

#### **B. ~~B.~~ — Increases in Premiums**

Effective July 1, 2009, the City will pay for any increase in the medical plan premiums up to a maximum of 15% annually of the lowest cost HMO family rate. The difference will be deducted from the employee's paycheck on a pre-tax basis. This amount will be in addition to the employee contributions outlined in section 16.1 A.

In the event that the medical premium increase is less than 15%, the City's sole obligation is to pay the lower percentage increase.

#### **C. ~~C.~~ — Plan Co-Pays**

The health maintenance organization (HMO) medical plans co-pays shall be ten dollars (\$10) for office visits. The prescription drug co-pays shall be ten dollars (\$10) for generic, fifteen dollars (\$15) for brand and thirty-five dollars (\$35) for non-formulary (the Kaiser HMO provides for a two-tier prescription drug plan). The Preferred Provider Organization (PPO) medical plan co-pays shall be fifteen dollars (\$15) for office visits. The prescription drug co-pays shall be ten dollars (\$10) for generic, twenty-five (\$25) for brand and thirty-five dollars (\$35) for non-formulary.

#### **D. ~~D.~~ — Changes to Plan Designs**

During the term of this Agreement, the City reserves the right to propose changes to the plan designs and co-pay structure in order to reduce costs to the City and employees. Changes to plan design shall be by mutual agreement.

The City agrees to provide up to three (3) health plan options for employees and eligible dependents. At least two (2) options will be HMOs and the other option will be a PPO option. For the term of this agreement, the City agrees to continue to offer Kaiser as one of the HMO options.

## 16.2 Health and Medical Care – Retired Employees

### A. Spousal Continuation of Benefits

In the case where the employee eligible for two-party coverage is deceased, the amount the City is obligated to pay shall be reduced by one half (1/2). If the spouse remarries, the obligation by the City shall terminate. Domestic partners shall be treated in the same manner as spouses for continuation of benefits.

### B. Plan Design

Employees who retire on or after July 1, 2009, will have the same benefit co-pay and plan design as provided to active employees in accordance with Section 16.1.C and are subject to the 15% premium cap provisions of Section 16.1.B.

### C. Vesting Schedule for Employees Hired Before July 1, 2012

#### 1. Service Retirement

For all employees who retire with service from the City of Pleasanton, the City shall pay four percent (4%) for each year of service of the City's contribution toward the monthly premium for employee and one dependent.

#### 2. Disability Retirement

For all employees who retire ~~due to~~ ~~with~~ disability, the City shall pay a percentage of the City's contribution toward the monthly premium for employee plus ~~and~~ one dependent (two-party rate) for the lowest cost HMO plan in accordance with the schedule set forth below:

Years of Service	City's Contribution
10	20%
11	25%
12	30%
13	35%
14	40%

15	45%
16	48%
17	51%
18	54%
19	57%
20	80%
21	84%
22	88%
23	92%
24	96%
25 + years of service	100%

### **3. City Contributions**

\_\_\_\_\_ The City's contribution for retiree medical is established as the same dollar contribution paid for active employees at the employee plus one rate of the lowest cost HMO early retiree plan.

### **4. Reimbursement for non-City Plans**

In the event ~~that~~ a retiree obtains medical coverage through a plan not offered through the City of Pleasanton, the City will reimburse the retiree up to the amount outlined in Section 16.2.C.3 but no more than the amount paid by the retiree. Retirees must supply proof of coverage and proof of payment in order to be reimbursed.

### **5. Benefits for Medicare Eligible Retirees**

\_\_\_\_\_ All retirees eligible for Medicare are required to apply for Medicare benefits. Upon qualifying for and receiving parts A and B of Medicare, the City shall not be obligated to contribute an amount in excess of the monthly premium for the lowest cost HMO health plan supplement to Medicare for employee and one dependent coverage (two-party rate).

## **D. Vesting Schedule for Employees Hired On Or After July 1, 2012**

### **1. Service Retirement**

\_\_\_\_\_ For all employees who are hired on or after July 1, 2012 and retire from service, the City shall provide the following benefit:

\_\_\_\_\_ The City shall pay for each year of service equivalent to four percent (4%) of the City's contribution toward the monthly premium for single coverage.

## **2. -Disability Retirement**

For all employees who ~~are hired on or after July 1, 2012 and retire with due to~~ disability, the City shall pay a percentage of the City's ~~monthly~~ contribution toward the ~~monthly~~ premium for single coverage ~~for the lowest cost HMO plan~~ in accordance with the schedule set forth below:

<b>Years of Service</b>	<b>City's Contribution</b>
10	20%
11	25%
12	30%
13	35%
14	40%
15	45%
16	48%
17	51%
18	54%
19	57%
20	80%
21	84%
22	88%
23	92%
24	96%
25 + years of service	100%

## **3. City Contributions**

The City's contribution for retiree medical is established as the same dollar contribution paid for active employees at the single rate of the lowest cost HMO early retiree plan.

## **4. -Reimbursement for non-City Plans**

In the event ~~that~~ a retiree obtains medical coverage through a plan not offered through the City of Pleasanton, the City will reimburse the retiree up to the amount outlined in Section 16.2 ~~ED.3~~ for the single rate, but no more than the amount paid by the retiree. Retirees must supply proof of coverage and proof of payment in order to be reimbursed.

## **5. Benefits for Medicare Eligible Retirees**

Retiree health benefits will cease once ~~the employeea~~ ~~employee retiree~~ becomes Medicare eligible.

## **6. Retiree Health Savings Account**



For employees hired on or after July 1, 2012 and who have successfully passed probation the City will contribute seventy-five dollars (\$75) per month to the employee's RHSA. Additionally, each employee eligible for the City contribution will have a mandatory, pre-tax deduction of twenty-five dollars (\$25) per month toward the RHSA. The total monthly contribution to the RHSA will be one hundred dollars (\$100). However, those employees contributing to the RHSA may increase the mandatory employee contribution above twenty-five dollars (\$25) if a fixed amount is agreed to by, and implemented for, all contributing employees.

**Employees hired between July 1, 2012 and May 1, 2013:**

Employees hired between July 1, 2012 and May 1, 2013 will contribute \$150 per month (\$69.23 per pay period) through payroll deductions beginning the pay period in which the employee commenced employment with the LPFD.

In the pay period following completion of the employee's 12 or 18-month probationary period, the City will contribute a one-time payment of \$900 or \$1,350 (equivalent to \$75 for each month of the 12 or 18-month probationary period) towards the employee's RHSA.

These provisions apply solely to employees hired between July 1, 2012 and May 1, 2013. All employees hired after May 1, 2013 will follow the provisions outlined in Section 16.2.6 unless modified by a successor MOU.

**Effective January 1, 2015:**

For employees hired on or after July 1, 2014 and who have successfully passed probation, the City will contribute one-hundred and fifty (\$150) per month to the employee's RHSA. In the pay period following completion of the employee's 12 or 18-month probationary period, the City will contribute a one-time payment of \$1,800 or \$2,700 (equivalent to \$150 for each month of the 12 or 18-month probationary period) towards the employee's RHSA.

For the duration of the contract, each employee eligible for the City contribution will have a pre-tax deduction of one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150) per month toward the RHSA. The total monthly contribution to the RHSA will be three hundred (\$300). However, those employees contributing to the RHSA may increase the employee contribution above one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150) if a fixed amount is agreed to by, and implemented for, all contributing employees.

Employees have a vested right to the funds at the time of deposit. Funds deposited in the RHSA are portable and belong to the employee, regardless of length of service or reason for separation.

**Federal or State Legislation**

The City reserves the right to meet and confer with the Union for the purposes of coordinating retired employee's hospital and medical care in the event Federal or State legislation is implemented that effects retiree's medical insurance.

### 16.3 Dental

The City shall contribute an amount necessary to provide dental care benefits for the individual employees and eligible dependents. The City shall provide a lifetime maximum orthodontia coverage of \$2,000 for individual employees and eligible dependents.

### 16.4 Life Insurance

The City shall contribute an amount necessary to provide \$50,000 life and \$50,000 accidental death and dismemberment insurance coverage for ~~the~~ individual full-time employees.

~~Employees may purchase, at their~~ employees' own expense and within the limits set by the insurance carrier, ~~5~~ additional amounts of life insurance under the existing policy.

### 16.5 Vision Care

A vision care plan will be provided as an option for employees and the cost of such coverage shall be included in the 125 Plan (see Section 16.6).

### 16.6 Cafeteria Plan

An Internal Revenue Code Section 125 Cafeteria Plan is provided to each full-time employee who is eligible to enroll in one of the medical insurance plans offered by the City ~~of Pleasanton as outlined in the Plan Document~~ but elects to waive participation in such medical plans and/or the City's vision care plan. Proof of alternative medical coverage is required for an employee to waive participation in the City's medical plans.

The 125 Cafeteria Plan ~~provides employees with a one-tier credit formula which provides employees affords employees an the~~ opportunity to obtain plan credits for the purpose of: (1) purchasing supplemental benefits; (2) redirecting credits to a flexible spending account ~~pursuant to IRC 125~~; or (3) cashing out credits at a rate of \$0.35 on the dollar. ~~The one-tier credit formula is~~ Plan credits are based on the combined sum of the monthly premiums for Kaiser employee-only medical coverage and VSP "employee-only" premium the vision care plan at family level coverage, adjusted by the City, annually on a dollar-for-dollar-for annual rate increases basis to match any changes in the monthly premiums. Proof of other coverage from another carrier is required to waive the medical benefit. The maximum contribution limit for medical reimbursement under the Section 125 Cafeteria Plan is \$2,650 per year.

In the event ~~that~~ an individual employee loses ~~his/her their~~ primary coverage, the City will allow the employee to re-enroll in the City's health plans within thirty (30) days of receiving notice that primary

coverage has been lost, thereby enabling the continuation of benefits to the employee. ~~The balance of the cost incurred to provide medical, dental and vision care benefits for the employee and eligible dependents above the city's contribution will be paid by the employee on a pre-tax basis. Vision coverage may also be waived in order to receive credits in lieu of benefits and does not require coverage by the spouse or partner. In the event the amounts are insufficient to pay 100%, the Employer shall make a payroll deduction from the employee's pay to cover the difference in cost. For the purpose of this Section, a dependent is defined as a person who satisfies the definition of dependent in the medical insurance plan in which the employee is enrolled. Such dependents must also be enrolled in and covered by the plan. The maximum contribution limits of medical reimbursement for the Section 125 Cafeteria program is \$2,500 per year.~~

The City will ~~take into account the employees' interests in~~ consider adding supplemental insurance products to the Cafeteria Plan; to the extent ~~that these such~~ benefits can be offered within an IRC 125 Plan on a pre-tax basis.

### **16.7 Long-Term Disability**

The City shall pay to the Union the sum of nineteen dollars and fifty cents (\$19.50), up to a maximum of twenty-three dollars (\$23.00) as towards the monthly premium ~~of for~~ each bargaining unit employee enrolled in the Union's long-term disability plan. Said payments shall be made in arrears monthly. Should the monthly premium ~~of for~~ the Union's long-term disability plan drop below fifteen dollars (\$15.00) per month, the dollar difference shall be added one time to the employee's rate of pay ~~set forth in Section 5.1 of this agreement~~.

### **16.8 Extended Benefits**

The City will consider voluntary proposals from the Union's membership to utilize their leave and medical benefits to extend the leave and medical benefits ~~of an individual for employees~~ on protracted medical leave.

### **16.9 Employee Assistance Program**

The ~~parties have agreed to be covered by, and have LPFD City shall~~ provide an Employee Assistance Program for employees covered by this MOU.

## **Section 17. Retirement**

The City shall continue contracting with the California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) to provide retirement benefits for all bargaining unit employees.

### **17.1 Retirement Plans and Employee Contributions**

#### **A. Employees hired before December 22, 2012 (Tier 1 Classic)**

Employees hired prior to December 22, 2012 are provided the CalPERS 3% @ 50 local safety plan with the 12-month final compensation period. Such employees shall

contribute 9.0% of their CalPERS reportable compensation towards the employee share and an additional 3.0% of their CalPERS reportable compensation towards the employer share (12% total employee contribution) for the CalPERS 3% @ 50 local safety plan.

Effective July 11, 2020, Tier 1 Classic employees shall contribute an additional one-half percent (0.5%) of their CalPERS reportable compensation toward the employer share (12.5% total employee contribution) for the CalPERS 3% @ 50 local safety plan.

**B. Employees hired on or after December 22, 2012 (Tier 2 Classic)**

Employees hired on or after December 22, 2012 and before January 1, 2013, and employees hired on or after January 1, 2013 who are otherwise “classic” employees, are provided the CalPERS 3% @ 55 local safety plan with the 36-month final compensation period. Such employees shall contribute 9.0% of their CalPERS reportable compensation towards the employee share and an additional 3.0% of their CalPERS reportable compensation towards the employer share (12% total employee contribution) for the CalPERS 3% @ 55 local safety plan.

Effective July 11, 2020, Tier 2 Classic employees shall contribute an additional one-half percent (0.5%) of their CalPERS reportable compensation toward the employer share (12.5% total employee contribution) for the CalPERS 3% @ 55 local safety plan.

**C. Employees hired on or after January 1, 2013 (Tier 3 New-PEPRA)**

Employees hired on or after January 1, 2013 who are defined as “new” members by CalPERS are provided the CalPERS 2.7% @ 57 local safety plan with the 36-month final compensation period. Such employees shall contribute 50% of the normal cost for the 2.7% @ 57 local safety plan as established by CalPERS.

~~For employees hired prior to December 22, 2012, the City shall provide for the employees covered by this agreement the following PERS plan options: 3%@50, single highest year and fourth level 1959 Survivor’s Benefit at the City’s expense. The Military Service Buy Back option will be paid at the employee’s expense.~~

~~In addition, the City, at its expense, contracts with PERS for the purpose of providing the “credit for unused sick leave” option. The amount of unused hours of sick leave is converted to days and reported to PERS as service credit in accordance with PERS requirements.~~

~~The City, at its expense, contracts with PERS for the purpose of providing Section 21548 “Pre-Retirement Option 2W Death Benefit”. The spouse or domestic partner of the deceased member, who was eligible to retire for service at the time of death, may elect to receive the Pre-Retirement Option 2W Death Benefit in lieu of the lump sum Basic Death Benefit.~~

~~For employees hired after December 22, 2012, the City will provide the 3%@55 retirement formula with 36 highest paid consecutive months option. All other optional PERS retirement benefits remain in effect.~~

~~For employees hired on/after January 1, 2013, and defined as "New" members by CalPERS, the City shall provide the retirement formulas as determined by CalPERS under the Public Employees' Pension Reform Act (PEPRA). The current formula is 2.7% @ age 57 and older.~~

**D. PERS Status for Fire Prevention Personnel**

~~The classifications of Fire Inspector and Hazardous Materials Inspector are will be placed included in the CalPERS Ssafety PERS plans as maintained for the line personnel.~~

**17.2 Payment of Employee's Contribution Additional Retirement Benefits**

~~All employees shall receive the following additional contracted for optional CalPERS benefits:~~

~~Section 20965, Credit for Unused Sick Leave~~

~~Section 21574, 1959 Survivors Benefit, Fourth Level~~

~~Section 21548, Pre-retirement Option 2W Death Benefit~~

**17.3 Pre-tax Employee Contribution**

~~All contributions paid by employees towards the cost of CalPERS pension benefits will be deducted on a pre-tax basis to the extent permitted by law.~~

~~The City shall pay each employee's required PERS on eligible salary and those elements of compensation deemed by PERS to be "PERS Special Compensation" for example, holiday pay, uniform allowance, and paramedic pay. The PERS EPMC payment structure will continue as currently provided by the City of Pleasanton and the appropriate definition language referenced in Section 17.1.~~

~~Only employer paid member contributions are reported to PERS as special compensation.~~

~~Effective June 7, 2012, employees will pay 2% of the Member Contribution; effective September 1, 2012, employees will pay an additional four percent (4%) for a total of six percent (6%) of the Member Contribution (EPMC); effective July 6, 2013, employees will pay an additional three percent (3%) for a total of nine percent (9%) of the full Member Contribution (EPMC). Employee contributions to the EPMC shall be made pre-tax in accordance with applicable law.~~

~~For all "Classic Members" as defined by CalPERS:~~

~~Effective as soon as administratively feasible, but not prior to January 1, 2015, employees classified as "Classic Members" by CalPERS will pay an additional .5% of the employer's rate for a total PERS contribution of 9.5%.~~

~~Effective July 4, 2015, "Classic Member" employees will pay an additional .5% of the employer's rate for a total PERS contribution of 10%.~~

~~Effective July 2, 2016, "Classic Member" employees will pay an additional .5% of the employer's rate for a total PERS contribution of 10.5%~~

~~Effective July 1, 2017, "Classic Member" employees will pay an additional 1.5% of the employer's rate for a total PERS contribution of 12%.~~

~~These contributions shall be reported as equal sharing of normal cost by Classic Members, in accordance with PEPRAs, as soon as administratively feasible by CalPERS.~~

~~For all "New Members" as defined by CalPERS:~~

~~Employees classified as "New Members" by CalPERS will pay a Member Contribution as determined by CalPERS under the Public Employees' Pension Reform Act (PEPRA). The current member contribution rate and the member contribution rate effective July 1, 2015 is 10.5%.~~

## **Section 18. Fire Inspectors**

The Department recognizes the importance of maintaining a core of trained fire investigators.

Therefore, Fire Inspectors will be encouraged to participate as members of the Alameda County Arson Task Force.

## **Section 19. Uniforms**

### **19.1 Uniform Allowance Allotment**

~~The Department shall provide the following uniform items to new bargaining unit members at the time of employment: three (3) uniform shirts, three (3) uniform pants, a uniform belt and boots. The Department shall provide the foregoing items at no cost to new employees. However, newly hired employees are required to pay fifty percent (50%) of the cost of the Department-required items: one (1) ball cap, three (3) t-shirts, one (1) winter jacket, and approved workout gear. The Department shall replace uniform pants and boots for employees as needed on a one for one basis. at its expense required protective clothing and footwear. This clothing will be provided on an "as needed" basis in order to maintain an inventory of three (3) uniform pants minimum. The Department will provide at its expense at time of employment: three (3) shirts, three (3) pants, belt, and boots. Newly hired employees will be required to pay fifty percent (50%) of the cost of a required ball cap, three (3) tee shirts, winter jacket, and workout gear.~~

### **19.2 Uniform Maintenance Allowance**

The Department shall provide bargaining unit employees with a uniform allowance as follows:

Fire Suppression personnel: \$650 per year (paid on a bi-weekly basis).

Fire Inspectors and Hazardous Materials Inspectors: \$800 per year (paid on a bi-weekly basis).

### **19.3 Uniform Changes**

Uniform changes initiated by the Department shall be made at the expense of the Department.

All ~~employees covered by this Agreement~~ bargaining unit employees shall wear the same uniforms.

~~Effective 2013, the annual uniform maintenance allowance for suppression personnel shall be six hundred and fifty dollars (\$650.00), payable the first pay day in April of each year; provided, however, that if the payment date follows by less than six (6) months the date of appointment of such an employee, no such uniform maintenance allowance for said employee shall be forthcoming until the succeeding annual payment date.~~

~~Effective 2013, the annual uniform maintenance allowance for Fire Inspectors and Hazardous Materials Inspectors is eight hundred dollars (\$800.00). The annual uniform allowance paid to eligible employees is paid in two equal installments payable the first pay day in April and the first payday in October.~~

~~A prorated uniform allowance is paid upon separation based on the number of payroll periods worked since the last uniform allowance was paid.~~

### **Section 20. Credit Union**

The ~~Department~~ City shall implement a voluntary payroll deduction option for ~~those~~ employees who wish to join ~~either the~~ the Firefighter First Credit Union, First United Services Credit Union or UNCLE Credit Union for the purposes of transacting business ~~with such First United Services Credit Union or UNCLE Credit Union~~ with these credit unions.

### **Section 21. Tuition Reimbursement**

Regular employees are eligible for tuition and fee reimbursement ~~of tuition expenses~~ for college or university courses successfully completed with a grade of "C" or better, provided said courses have been approved in advance by the Fire Chief and are taken from an educational institution accredited by the Western Association of Schools and Colleges, or any other accrediting agency approved by Human Resources.

Tuition is reimbursed in the amount up to, but not to exceed, the annual registration fees levied by California State University, East Bay for degrees ~~in effect~~ available at the time the employee enrolled in the course(s) for which the tuition reimbursement is requested. Eligible fees shall be limited to: University Fee; Student Body Fee; university fee; student body fee; IRA (Instructional Related Activity)

~~Fee; Facility Fee; University Union Fee; Health Services (instructional related activity) Fee-fee; facility fee; university union fee; health services fee and ID fee.~~

The maximum tuition and fee reimbursement an employee may receive per fiscal year shall not exceed the annual maximum levied by California State University, East Bay for the four quarter academic year beginning with the proceeding fall quarter. Employees accepted and enrolled in an undergraduate program are eligible to receive reimbursement up to the full-time equivalent for undergraduate tuition and fees at CSU East Bay. Employees accepted and enrolled in a graduate program are eligible to receive reimbursement up to the full-time equivalent for graduate tuition and fees at CSU East Bay.

Requests for tuition and fee reimbursement are to be submitted at the completion of each quarter or semester during which the courses were completed. ~~—An official receipt verifying the tuition charges and fee charged,~~ the tuition and fees paid, and a ~~n official~~ transcript of grades shall accompany the reimbursement request.

**~~Section 21.1 The following items will apply to the employees who are prior Livermore Fire Department employees and receiving the “grandfathered” Educational Incentive Pay~~**

~~Effective August 11, 2018 employees who complete qualifying courses or attain the identified degrees shall receive educational incentive pay on a monthly basis as follows:~~

<del>Sixty (60) or more accredited college semester units-at least twenty-four (24) units must be in fire science</del>	<del>\$50/month</del>
<del>AA/AS Degree in Fire Science</del>	<del>\$75/month</del>
<del>BA/BS Degree</del>	<del>\$125/month</del>

~~The above education incentive pay is not cumulative. Employees receive the level of compensation that corresponds to their highest level of educational achievement.~~

~~October 1, 1995, the City’s Tuition Reimbursement Plan as outlined in the Personnel Rules and Regulations and detailed in the City Manager’s Administrative Regulation Number 14, is available to all members of the bargaining unit except those eligible for and participating in the Educational Incentive Pay plan (EIP).~~

~~Effective with City Council adoption of this agreement, the Educational Incentive Pay plan will be available only to the following employees: a) those employees hired prior to December 28, 1992, and who are receiving EIP as of the date of City Council adoption of this agreement or; b) those employees who were eligible and denied access to the EIP prior to August 1, 1995.~~

~~The EIP refers to two permanent levels of pay. Level One EIP pay is \$25.00 per month for the attainment of an AA/AS degree. Level Two EIP pay is \$50.00 per month for the attainment of either a BA/BS degree or 180 total units of college credit. As outlined above, once an employee who is~~



~~receiving EIP elects to convert to the City's Tuition Reimbursement Plan, that employee's monthly EIP pay will cease and s/he will no longer be eligible for EIP compensation.~~

~~Employees eligible for the EIP plan, may make a one time irrevocable decision to convert to the Tuition Reimbursement Plan prior to a budget cycle.~~

~~The prior EIP conditions stay in full force and effect as long as employees are participating in that program.~~

**21.2 The following items will apply to prior employees of the Pleasanton Fire Department City of Pleasanton Fire Department Employees (Grandfathered Plan)**

Former members of the City of Pleasanton Fire Department shall continue receiving the grandfathered educational incentive pay described below or the education incentive pay provided in Section 22.1 above, whichever is greater.

~~Employees receiving educational incentive pay as of August 31, 1990 shall continue to receive said pay except as provided below.~~ Employees having enrolled in the educational incentive pay plan on or before July 1, 1988, shall upon completion of five (5) years of service with the City of Pleasanton Fire Department, receive educational incentive pay as provided below:

<u>Educational Level</u>	<u>Eligible Positions</u>	<u>Pay %</u>
A.A. or A.S. in Fire Science	Firefighter Fire Engineer	2-1/2%
Sixty (60) accredited semester units of which 24 units must be in Fire Science	Firefighter Fire Engineer	2-1/2%
Ninety (90) accredited quarter units of which thirty-six (36) must be in the field of Fire Science	Firefighter Fire Engineer	2-1/2%
B.S. or B.A. Degrees	Firefighter Fire Engineer Fire Captain	5% 5% 2-1/2%
One Hundred Eighty (180) quarter hour units to include: --a minimum of 90 upper division quarter hour units; and --a minimum of 72 quarter hour units in a major field of study of which a minimum of 36-quarter hour units	Firefighter Fire Engineer Fire Captain	5% 5% 2-1/2%

must be upper division courses

One Hundred Twenty (120) semester hour units to include:  
-- a minimum of 60 upper division semester hour units; and  
-- a minimum of 48 semester hour units in a major field of study of which a minimum of 24 semester hour units must be upper division courses

Firefighter	5%
Fire Engineer	5%
Fire Captain	2-1/2%

~~Effective August 1, 2007, employees covered under this Educational Incentive Pay Plan shall receive the greater of this plan or the amounts provided under Section 21.3 of this Memorandum of Understanding.~~

~~NOTE:—The above educational levels are not cumulative. The maximum educational incentive pay received by a Firefighter or Fire Engineer shall not exceed five percent (5%); the maximum educational incentive pay received by a Fire Captain shall not exceed two and one-half percent (2.5%)~~2-1/2%~~ nor shall an employee receive incentive pay for more than one educational level at the two and one half percent (2.5%)~~2-1/2%~~ rate nor more than one educational level at the five (5%) rate.~~

### **21.3 Educational Incentive Pay**

~~Effective August 1, 2009, eligible employees shall receive Educational Incentive Pay as provided below:~~

<del>AA or AS in Fire Science</del>	<del>\$50/month</del>
<del>(60) accredited semester units, of which 24 units must be in Fire Science</del>	<del>\$50/month</del>
<del>BA or BS Degree</del>	<del>\$100/month</del>

~~NOTE:—The above educational levels are not cumulative. The maximum educational incentive pay received by a Firefighter, Fire Engineer, or Fire Captain shall not exceed \$100 per month. Effective August 1, 2009, employees covered under this Educational Incentive Pay Plan shall receive the greater of this plan or the amounts provided under Section 21.1 of this Memorandum of Understanding.~~

## **Section 22. Probationary Period**

### **22.1 Length of Probationary Period**

All original appointments to ~~F~~ire ~~S~~uppression positions shall be tentative and subject to a probationary period of eighteen (18) months actual service. The probationary period for ~~F~~ire ~~P~~revention personnel shall be twelve (12) months.

Promotional appointments shall be subject to a probationary period of twelve (12) months service time. Personnel who serve in a long term acting assignment any time during the two (2) years prior to their promotion with receive credit towards the twelve (12) month promotional probationary period for their

long term acting assignments up to a combined maximum of six (6) months. All other provisions of probationary period will apply.

## **22.2 Notification Requirements**

The Fire Chief shall notify a probationary employee forty five (45) days prior to the expiration date of his/her probationary period. An employee who is not rejected prior to the completion of the prescribed probationary period shall be deemed to have passed the prescribed probation period automatically subject to the provisions of Section 22.3.

## **22.3 Extension of Probationary Period**

The Fire Chief may extend the probationary period once for a period not to exceed ninety (90) days, in order to further evaluate the performance of the probationary employee.

## **22.4 Rejection of Probationary Employee - Promotional Appointment**

Any employee rejected during the probationary period following a promotional appointment or at the conclusion of the probationary period shall be reinstated to a position in the class from which he/shethe employee was promoted.

At any time Dduring the first three (3) months of his/her-the employee's probationary period, the employee shall have the option of voluntarily returning to the position he/she- their previously held position.

## **Section 23. Promotion, Demotion and Long-Term Acting Assignments**

### **A. A.—Promotion**

Promotional or open-promotional examinations may be conducted whenever in the opinion of the Fire Chief, determines the needs of the service require. Only employees who meet the requirements set forth in the examination announcements may compete in promotional examinations.

Insofar as consistent with the best interests of the Department as determined by the Fire Chief, vacancies in the Department shall be filled by promotion from within the Department after a promotional examination has been given and a promotional list established.

Upon completion of all promotional testing, the names of the persons having the highest three (3) scores on the eligibility list shall be submitted to the Fire Chief for his/her-consideration. Promotional examination scores will be calculated to the nearest tenth of a point (example – 95.2 points).

Time in grade requirements for promotion will be three (3) years with the ~~LPFD-Department~~ for Fire Engineer, and five (5) years with the ~~LPFD-Department~~ for Fire Captain. If, in the opinion of the Fire Chief, a vacancy in the Department ~~could-should~~ be filled ~~better~~ by an open-competitive examination instead of promotional examination, ~~he/she- the Fire Chief~~ shall arrange an open-competitive employment list consistent with the Personnel Rules.

## **B. B.—Demotion**

~~Bargaining unit employees who are promoted to a chief officer classification out of the bargaining unit and subsequently demote during their first twelve (12) months of service as a chief officer shall be reinstated to a bargaining unit position in the classification from which they were promoted. Such employees will have all seniority in their former rank restored at the time of demotion but shall not receive any additional rank seniority for the time served in the chief officer classification. When a Chief Officer demotion crosses bargaining units within the first twelve months and there is continued employment with the LPFD there is no impact to department seniority. As there is no break in Department service, the reinstatement—reemployment section of the Local #1974 MOU does not apply. Therefore upon demotion during the first twelve months, a Chief Officer promoted from Local #1974 will have rank seniority restored with the only reduction being the missing weeks served in a management capacity.~~

~~Any Employees who are demoted employee from management or within Local #1974, upon return a chief officer classification into a bargaining unit position, as well as existing bargaining unit employees demoted to lower classifications within the bargaining unit, will have their overtime factor set to the highest level for of their rank assignment, plus one (1) hour.~~

~~The above policies for rank seniority and the overtime factor provisions of this section apply to employees who voluntarily demote and those who are involuntarily demoted from their positions will cover self or forced demotions within the 3 to during their 12-month promotional probationary period, for members of Local #1974. If a demotion occurs after that, demotions will occur to However, employees who demote after attaining permanent status in their promoted position will be places in an open positions in their former classification and will not be credited with any previously earned and rank seniority, will be affected. The demoted—Such employees will “start-over” for rank seniority and their overtime factor will be reset as in the paragraph above.~~

~~Chief officers hired from outside the bargaining unit cannot demote into a line— fire suppression position within the bargaining unit. They do not have a former fire suppression classification in the bargaining unit to which they may be returned.~~

~~— There is no provision for this in the Local 1974 MOU, City of Pleasanton Management Compensation Plan or LPFD Personnel Rules.~~

## **C.—Long-Term Acting Assignments**

### **C.**

~~—————An Acting program will be implemented on or before July 1, 2015.~~

~~Acting assignments may be used for long-term vacancies.~~

~~The use of Qualified personnel may be placed in long-term acting assignments may be implemented for to fill long-term vacancies that occur due to resulting from workers compensation injuries, modified duty assignments, long-term sick medical leave, or other approved long-term leave absences. Long-term assignments vacancies are defined as those lasting longer than ten (10) consecutive shifts. Once it is determined that the a vacancy will last longer than ten (10) consecutive shifts, an long-term acting assignment may be implemented made to fill the vacancy prior to the completion of the tenth 10 shifts.~~

~~Personnel fulfilling a long-term acting assignments may be moved across shifts and will receive all the pay and benefits of the assignment as if the employee had been position to which they are assigned as if promoted to the position. The duration of the a Acting assignments will be are limited to ninety (90) calendar days if when other eligible actors employees are available, qualified, and interested in the acting assignment. Personnel may rotate into an acting assignment more than once and for longer than ninety (90) days depending on the availability of other employees to fill the acting assignment. Personnel that who participate in an acting assignment will receive probationary credit in that the higher classification not to exceed up to a maximum of six (6) months, regardless of the length of the total combined duration of the acting assignments. Personnel that participate who provide satisfactory service in an acting assignment for a continuous twelve (12) months of fulltime satisfactory service will be are eligible for salary advancement in accordance with Section 5.4 Salary Advancement of this MOU for the remaining duration of the acting assignment.~~

~~A Long-term acting assignments shall not be used for day-to-day vacancies such as those created by vacation or sick leave relief and is are not intended to cause an adverse impact to any one rank (more than two long-term vacancies in that rank on the same division).~~

~~The use of short-term acting assignments is identified in Section 7.3 D, Rank-for-Rank Overtime and Short-Term Acting Assignments.~~

~~The operational procedures of acting assignments are outlined in dDepartment policy.~~

## **Section 24. Resignation, Reinstatement and Layoff**

### **24.1 Automatic Resignation**

Failure to return at the expiration of a leave of absence or being absent without leave shall be considered an automatic resignation. The Fire Chief may rescind such a resignation if the employee submits satisfactory reasons for his/her absence within three (3) calendar days of the date his/her resignation was effected.

### **24.2 Voluntary Resignation**

An employee may resign in good standing by submitting to the Fire Chief a written resignation notice at least two (2) weeks in advance of the effective date of the resignation.

### **24.3 Reinstatement**

With the approval of the Fire Chief, an employee who has resigned in good standing may be reinstated within two (2) years of the effective date of resignation to a vacant position in the same or comparable class. Upon reinstatement, the employee, for all purposes, shall be considered as though the employee had received a new appointment.

When an employee is reinstated within a two year period, the employee's seniority date shall be the date of the reinstatement, not the original appointment date except for service time with CalPERS, if the employee has contributions in PERS when reinstated and except for calculating service credit time for retiree medical purposes with the LPFD.

Reinstated employees may use prior service credit for promotional eligibility purposes.

Reinstated employees may petition the Fire Chief after six months to be removed from probationary status.

### **24.4 Layoff**

The Fire Chief may lay off an employee because of material changes in duties, organization or shortage of work or funds.

"Notice of Intent to Lay Off" will be provided to employees who may be impacted and the Union at least 16 weeks prior to the anticipated date of lay off, thus allowing employees to register for the Displaced Firefighters List.

The employee having the least length of total continuous service with the Department in the classification, in which the Fire Chief is laying off, shall be laid off first.

Employees scheduled to be laid off may, however, displace the least senior employee in the next lower paying classification of like work who has less seniority. —Employees\_laid\_off or who through displacement have changed classification shall have their name placed upon a re-employment list in seniority order. The employee with the highest seniority on a re-employment list for a particular classification when a vacancy exists in that classification shall be offered the appointment. Each name shall be carried on a re-employment list for a period of one (1) year from the date of lay off from Department service or change of classification through displacement. The Fire Chief may extend the name(s) on a re-employment list for an additional one (1) year. No name shall be carried on a re-employment list for a period longer than two (2) years from the date of lay off from Department service or change of classification through displacement unless authorized by the City Manager.

## **Section 25. Discipline**

The Department has the right to discipline, demote or discharge employees for cause.

### **Letters of Written Reprimand**

All Letters of Written Reprimand in an employee's personnel file will be removed from the file three (3) years after the date of issuance at the request of the affected employee. Letters of Written Reprimand not removed after the three (3) year period will be disregarded.

### **Section 26. Grievances**

**26.1** A grievance is any dispute, which involves the interpretation or application of any provision of this Memorandum of Understanding excluding, however, those provisions of this Memorandum of Understanding, which specifically provide that the decision of any Fire Department official shall be final, the interpretation or application of those provisions not being subject to the grievance procedure.

Any dispute which involves the interpretation or application of department policies outside this Memorandum of Understanding is not considered a grievance and is subject to an informal dispute process as follows:

1. The dispute will be presented, in writing, to the applicable Deputy Fire Chief. The applicable Deputy Fire Chief will render a determination.
- 2.—The dispute may be appealed, in writing, to the Fire Chief. The Fire Chief will render a determination.
2.
3. The dispute may be appealed, in writing, to the City of Pleasanton City Manager's Office. The City Manager or his/her designee will render a determination which shall be final.

**26.2** Grievances shall be processed in the following manner:

- 1) 1. Within thirty (30) days of the knowledge of an event giving rise to a grievance, an employee or the union may request in writing a meeting to discuss the grievance with the Deputy Fire Chief. The Deputy Fire Chief or his/her designee shall investigate the grievance and the Deputy Fire Chief shall render a decision within fourteen (14) calendar days from the date the grievance was received.
- 2) 2. No grievance involving demotion, reduction in pay, suspension, or discharge of an employee will be entertained unless it is filed in writing with the Fire Chief within seven (7) working days of the time at which the affected employee was notified of such action.
- 3) 3. Within fourteen (14) calendar days from receipt of the Deputy Fire Chief's decision in Step 1 above, the employee or official of the Union may notify the Fire Chief in writing that a grievance exists, stating the particulars of the grievance, citing the specific section of this Memorandum of Understanding he/she believes to have been violated, and, if possible, the

nature of the determination desired. The Fire Chief shall have fourteen (14) days from receipt of notification in which to investigate the issues, meet with the complainant and attempt to reach a satisfactory resolution of the problem. No grievance may be processed under paragraph (4 below), which has not first been filed and investigated in accordance with this paragraph (3).

4)4. If the parties are unable to reach a mutually satisfactory accord on any grievance which arises and is presented during the term of this Memorandum of Understanding, such grievance shall be submitted to a Review Board comprised of two (2) members of the Union and two (2) Fire Department management representatives appointed by the Fire Chief. Notification to the Fire Chief of the need to proceed to this step must occur within 30 days of the Fire Chief's decision in (3) above, or the grievance is considered settled.

The Review Board shall be convened within twenty-one (21) calendar days from the day the grievance was submitted to said Board. The Board shall render its findings and recommendations in writing to the Joint Executive Directors within fourteen (14) calendar days from the date it completed its review of the grievance, subject to the agreement set forth in Appendix C.

5)5. The Joint Executive Directors shall within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of the Review Board's written findings and recommendations review the findings and recommendations and render a written decision on the grievance.

6)6. The Union may appeal the decision of the Joint Executive Directors by requesting that the grievance be referred to an impartial arbitrator. The Union's decision to refer the grievance to arbitration shall be made within fourteen (14) days of the notification of the Joint Executive Directors decision. The arbitrator shall be designated by mutual agreement between the Union and the Joint Executive Directors. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator and court reporter shall be shared equally between the Fire Department and the Union. Each party, however, shall bear the cost of its own presentation, including preparation and post hearing briefs, if any.

7)7. Decisions of arbitrators on matters properly before them shall be final and binding on the parties hereto, to the extent permitted by law, Ordinances and Resolutions of the Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department JPA.

**26.3** The time limits previously set forth shall be considered maximums and every effort shall be made to expedite the process. The limits specified may, however, be extended by mutual agreement of the parties.

**26.4** No Review Board and no arbitrator shall entertain, or hear, any dispute unless such dispute involves a position in the unit represented by the Union and unless such dispute falls within the definition of a grievance as set forth in Subsection 26.1.

**26.5** Proposals to add to or change this Memorandum of Understanding or written agreements or addenda supplementary hereto, shall not be arbitrable and no proposal to modify amend or



terminate this Memorandum of Understanding, nor any matter or subject arising out of or in connection with such proposal may be referred to arbitration under this Section. Neither any Review Board nor any arbitrator shall have the power to amend or modify this Memorandum of Understanding or written agreement or addenda supplementary hereto or to establish any new terms or conditions of employment.

**26.6** If the Fire Chief in pursuance of the procedures outlined in subsection 26.2 above resolves any grievance, which involves suspension or discharge, the Fire Chief may agree to payment for lost time or to reinstatement with or without payment for lost time.

**26.7** All complaints involving or concerning the payment of compensation shall be initially filed in writing with the Fire Chief. Complaints which allege that employees are not being compensated in accordance with the provision of this Memorandum of Understanding shall be considered as grievances.

Both parties agree that adjustments shall be retroactive for a maximum of six (6) months from the date upon which the complaint was filed except in instances where retroactive adjustments are mandated by federal or state law, or required by outside entities.

In the event the City overpays an employee above the compensation outlined in this Memorandum of Understanding, the City may collect up to six (6) months of overpayment dated from the date of discovery.

Any other matters of compensation are to be resolved in the meet and confer process and detailed in the Memorandum of Understanding. If the matter is not detailed in the MOU, it shall be deemed withdrawn until the next meet and confer process is opened for such discussion.

**26.8** No changes in this Memorandum of Understanding or interpretation thereof (except interpretations resulting from arbitration proceedings hereunder) will be recognized unless agreed to by the Fire Department Fire Chief and the Union.

~~**26.9** The Union, its members and representatives, agree that it and they will not engage in, authorize, sanction, or support any strike against the Fire Department. The Union, its members and representatives, further agree that it and they will not engage in, authorize, sanction, or support any strike, slowdown, stoppage of work, curtailment of production, concerted refusal of overtime work, refusal to operate designated equipment (provided such equipment is safe and sound) to perform customary duties. Further, neither the Union nor any representative thereof shall engage in any job action for the purpose of effecting changes in the directives or decisions of management of the Fire Department, nor to effect a change of personnel or operations of management or of employees not covered by the Memorandum of Understanding.~~

**26.109** The provision of this Section shall not abridge any right to which an employee may be entitled under the Fire Department ordinance and resolution, nor shall it be administered in a manner which would abrogate any power which may be within the sole province and discretion of the Fire Department's governing board.

All grievances of employees represented by the Union shall be processed under this section.

## Section 27. Medical Examination

### 27.1 Fitness for Duty Exams

The Fire Chief retains the right to subject employees to job-related fitness for duty medical examinations to ensure employees can safely perform the essential functions of their job classifications as specified in established job descriptions. In the event the Fire Chief, after consultation with the Human Resources Director, determines there is a necessity for a medical examination, are identifiable reasons to believe an employee may be unable to safely perform the essential functions of their job classification, an employee shall submit to such a fitness for duty medical examination at any time while on duty. The notice provided to the employee directing them to submit to a medical examination does not need to include the identifiable reason(s) for the referral. A physician selected by the Fire Department shall give such conduct the fitness for duty examination and the full cost of the examination shall be borne by the Fire Department, as shall any medical examination required by the Fire Department Employer. A copy of said the medical examination report shall be given to the employee. Should the employee disagree with the medical opinion of the examination Department's physician, the employee may consult with his/her their own physician (at the employee's expense) and if his/her the employee's private physician's report conflicts with the Fire Department's physician in terms of ability to work at perform the duties of the employee's regular job, then the employee may request a medical examination by a third physician mutually agreed upon by the employee and the Fire Department. The employee and the Fire Department will share the costs for the third examination. The decision of the third physician concerning the ability of the employee to perform his/her duties employee's fitness for duty shall be the basis for determine the employee's ability to returning to work.

### 27.2 Wellness-Fitness/Modified Duty Program

On August 1, 2001, the Department and ~~Local the Union~~ adopted the IAFC-IAFF Fire Service Joint Labor Management Wellness-Fitness Initiative (3<sup>rd</sup> Edition as amended). ~~Any e~~Exceptions to the current program (~~3<sup>rd</sup> edition with modifications~~) may be implemented during the term of this MOU the agreement will be by mutually agreement upon by between the Department and the ~~Local Union~~.

The Modified Duty Program ~~establishes a policy whereby Local #1974 permits~~ eligible employees ~~are returned to return~~ to work in a modified duty capacity, ~~should when~~ an illness or injury prevents ~~the~~ employees from performing ~~his or her their~~ regular duties. The program is outlined in ~~a the d~~Departmental General Orders.

The Department shall provide all employees over the age of 40 with a twelve-lead stress EKG examination biannually. If the test suggests ~~the an~~ employee is immediately unsafe for fire suppression duties, the Fire Chief will be notified that the employee is not fit for duty. No other information will be provided to the Fire Chief or Employer without the employee's consent. Otherwise, test results are confidential to the testing doctor, employee and as necessary, the employees primary care physician.

The Department shall provide a mandatory physical fitness program to the employees.

## **Section 28. Outside Employment**

Employees who plan to engage in regular employment during ~~his/her~~ their off duty time must notify the Fire Chief of said employment in writing on the ~~LPFD-Department's~~ Outside Employment Form.

No employee shall accept outside employment that ~~places him/her~~ increases a conflict with ~~the~~ their full-time employment with the Department.

~~No e~~Employees shall not solicit outside employment while on duty for the Department or use ~~his/her~~ their Department positions as an aid or leverage to gain outside employment.

## **Section 29. ~~Americans with Disabilities~~ Disability Accommodations**

The ~~Department and the~~ Union recognizes that the ~~Department~~ City has an obligation under law to meet with individual employees who ~~allege a need for~~ request reasonable accommodation in the work place because of a disability. If ~~by reason of the aforesaid requirement,~~ the ~~Department~~ City contemplates actions to provide reasonable accommodation to an individual employee in compliance with ~~the ADA applicable law and the accommodation which are in potential~~ conflicts with any provision of this ~~Memorandum of Understanding~~ MOU, the Union will be advised of any such proposed accommodation and be afforded an opportunity to discuss the same prior to implementation by the Department.

## **Section 30. Miscellaneous**

### **30.1 Deferred Compensation Program**

~~Regular and probationary~~ All employees are eligible to participate in the ~~Department's~~ Employer's deferred compensation program. Any employee who chooses to participate in a deferred compensation plan shall pay the administrative fee, if any, the ~~Department~~ Employer may require.

Effective July 2, 2016, the City shall contribute 0.5% of the employees' base compensation into a 457 deferred compensation plan. The contribution is tax-deferred, and counts towards the 457 annual maximum deferral as designated by the IRS. Employees without an existing 457 account with a City-sponsored provider must establish one in order to receive the City contribution, but no employee contribution to the account is required.

### **30.2 Helmets**

Department-issued ~~H~~ leather helmets are to remain with each individual at retirement.

### 30.3 EMT Certification

Emergency Medical Technician (“EMT”) certification is a mandatory condition of employment for fire suppression personnel. The Department will provide all necessary training and testing and pay for associated expense relating to the recertification process at no cost to employees. If an employee does not successfully complete the EMT re-certification requirements as process provided by the Department, they employee will have six (6) months to meet recertification requirements or be subject to termination for failure to meet position standards. The expenses, in this such cases, will be the responsibility of the employee. The six-(6) month time frame grace period, if requested, may be extended due to course availability. ~~However, the~~ but, employees must enroll and participate in the first available course.

### 30.4 Staffing

~~Both The~~ parties agree that the desired minimum staffing is (3) personnel assigned to each type one engine company and a minimum of four (4) personnel assigned to each truck company within the ~~Livermore Pleasanton Fire Department~~. ~~Both The~~ parties agree that four (4) person engine staffing may be appropriate based on Community Risk Assessment such as geography, potential isolation of personnel during significant incidents, and for specialized programs (e.g. hazardous materials response). Staffing levels are ultimately at the discretion of each City, and based on community need, economic conditions and eCity funding. Nothing in this ~~agreement MOU~~ agreements MOU agreements unique to each City.

### 30.5 Fire Prevention Seniority

~~The s~~Seniority for all current Fire Prevention personnel will be determined by their date of hire for appointment into a full time work Fire Inspector or Hazardous Material Inspector position with Livermore or Pleasanton. ~~This could include time spent in other city or fire Department divisions prior to fire prevention service starting.~~

### 30.6 Total Compensation Survey

Total Compensation includes ~~not only~~ salary, ~~but also and~~ a variety of other benefits. Among these such benefits, but not exclusively, are contributions or payments made by the Employer toward retirement (CalPERS), medical insurance, dental insurance, life insurance, vision insurance, disability insurance, uniform allowance, and holiday pay. In addition, there can also be add-on costs for different tasks or services performed (e.g. paramedics, hazardous materials).

~~Comparable salaries and benefits Total compensation information~~ will be gathered from similar agencies to determine how ~~Livermore Pleasanton the Employer’s~~ benchmark classifications compare with

comparable positions in other agencies. The ~~cities that Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department will compare to agencies used for comparison~~ are listed below.

Berkeley  
Fairfield  
Fremont  
Hayward  
Palo Alto  
Richmond  
San Ramon Valley Fire Protection District  
Santa Clara (City)  
Santa Rosa  
Vallejo

The specific classifications selected as the benchmark classes (classifications used for total compensation comparisons) will be determined through classification analyses based on: That is, the duties, responsibilities and minimum requirements for the benchmark classes are comparable among the survey agencies, and not merely classification titles.

Total ~~C~~compensation arrays will be provided to the Union ~~representative~~ three (3) months prior to the expiration of the Memorandum of Understanding MOU.

### 30.7 Continuity of Operations

The Union, its members and representatives, agree that ~~it and they will not engage in, authorize, sanction, or support any strike against the Fire Department. The Union, its members and representatives, further agree that it and they will not engage in, authorize, sanction, or support any strike, slowdown, stoppage of work, curtailment of production, concerted refusal to work of overtime work, refusal to operate designated equipment (provided such equipment is safe and sound), or concerted refusal to perform customary duties during the term of this MOU.~~ Further, neither the Union nor any representative thereof shall engage in any job action for the purpose of effecting changes in the directives, ~~or decisions, personnel or operations of management of the Fire Department or Employer, nor in sympathy or support to effect a change of personnel or operations of management or~~ of employees not covered by this MOU, the Memorandum of Understanding.

## **Section 31. Hazardous Material Response Team**

The Department intends to provide the ability to respond to and mitigate hazardous materials (Haz-Mat) incidents above the first responder level. To accomplish this, the Department will staff each shift with up to five (5) Hazardous Materials Specialists.

### **31.131.1 Hazardous Materials Staffing and Assignments**

- A. ~~Parties~~ The parties have agreed to maintain the “Company” concept of the Haz-Mat team (i.e. Captain, Engineer, Firefighter/Paramedic and Firefighter). The maximum number of Haz-Mat

team members per shift is five (5). Four (4) of the team members (Haz-Mat Captain, Engineer, Firefighter/Paramedic and Firefighter) are assigned to the designated Haz-Mat station. The fifth team member, determined by ~~department~~ Department seniority, is not rank specific and may be assigned to the Haz-Mat station based on organizational need using the bid process whenever possible.

B. ~~Effective September 1, 2012 the~~ The four (4) team member positions (Haz-Mat Captain, Engineer, Firefighter/Paramedic, and Firefighter) at the designated Haz-Mat Station will only be ~~available to be filled~~ and back-filled by Haz-Mat Team members or individuals holding the appropriate Haz-Mat certification.

~~C. The transition to full implementation of a designated Haz-Mat Station will take place no later than June 30, 2014.~~

~~D.C.~~ \_\_\_\_\_ Procedures regarding staffing, assignments, training, withdrawal and other Haz-Mat specific topics ~~will be~~ included in the Department's Haz-Mat program policy.

### 31.2 Compensation

Personnel assigned to the Hazardous Materials Response Team will be compensated at five percent (5%) above their respective base rates of pay, subject to MOU Section 5.1.

### 31.3 Withdrawal Process

A Haz-Mat team member as defined in Section 31.1 shall be permitted to withdrawal from the Haz-Mat program ~~after expiration of his/her~~ following one (1) year of Haz-Mat service and with the approval of the Fire Chief. ~~The w~~ Withdrawal procedure outlined in the LPFD from the Haz-Mat program is governed by the Department's Haz-Mat program Policy policy. will govern the parameters of the withdrawal process.

## Section 32. Separability of Provisions

~~In the event that~~ Should any provisions of this ~~Memorandum of Understanding is~~ MOU be declared rendered unlawful or unenforceable by any subsequent legislative enactment, state regulation or by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or unenforceable, only that provision of the ~~Memorandum of Understanding~~ MOU shall be null and void, ~~but such nullification shall not affect any other provisions of this Memorandum of Understanding, all of which other provisions and all other provisions of the MOU shall not be affected and shall~~ remain in full force and effect.

## Section 33. Existing Memorandum of Understanding

This ~~Memorandum of Understanding~~ MOU shall supersede all existing ~~M~~ memoranda of ~~U~~ understanding between the ~~Department~~ JPA and the Union ~~and shall constitute the wages, hours, and working conditions~~ for ~~those~~ employees represented by the ~~IAFF, Local 1974, Union~~ for the period July 1, ~~2014~~ 2018 through ~~June 30~~ December 31, 2018 2021.

LOCAL 1974, INTERNATIONAL  
ASSOCIATION OF FIREFIGHTERS,  
AFL-CIO-CLC

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Erik AndersenJoseph McThorn

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Jason SolakErik Andersen

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Isaac Mendel  
By \_\_\_\_\_  
Dennis Burns

By \_\_\_\_\_  
James SmithLoy Proudfoot

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Curtis HallJohn Withers

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Jared JamisonJonathan Heller

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Scott Canfield

LIVERMORE-PLEASANTON FIRE  
DEPARTMENT JOINT POWERS  
AUTHORITY

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Nelson Fialho

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Marc Roberts

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Debra Gill

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Doug Alessio

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Joseph Rodondi Testa

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Jeff Peters





## Appendix A

### Salary Schedules

LPFD-IAFF LOCAL 1974 SALARY SCHEDULE- EFFECTIVE JANUARY 12, 2019					
POSITION	STEP	MONTHLY	BI-WEEKLY	HOURLY	ANNUAL
FIREFIGHTER	1	\$ 6,989	\$ 3,225.60	\$ 28.80	\$ 83,866
	2	\$ 7,343	\$ 3,389.12	\$ 30.26	\$ 88,117
	3	\$ 7,707	\$ 3,557.12	\$ 31.76	\$ 92,485
	4	\$ 8,093	\$ 3,735.20	\$ 33.35	\$ 97,115
	5	\$ 8,498	\$ 3,922.24	\$ 35.02	\$ 101,978
	6	\$ 8,925	\$ 4,119.36	\$ 36.78	\$ 107,103
FIREFIGHTER-8HR	1	\$ 6,991	\$ 3,226.40	\$ 40.33	\$ 83,886
	2	\$ 7,342	\$ 3,388.80	\$ 42.36	\$ 88,109
	3	\$ 7,708	\$ 3,557.60	\$ 44.47	\$ 92,498
	4	\$ 8,095	\$ 3,736.00	\$ 46.70	\$ 97,136
	5	\$ 8,499	\$ 3,922.40	\$ 49.03	\$ 101,982
	6	\$ 8,927	\$ 4,120.00	\$ 51.50	\$ 107,120
FIRE ENGINEER	1	\$ 9,515	\$ 4,391.52	\$ 39.21	\$ 114,180
	2	\$ 9,988	\$ 4,609.92	\$ 41.16	\$ 119,858
FIRE ENGINEER-8HR	1	\$ 9,514	\$ 4,391.20	\$ 54.89	\$ 114,171
	2	\$ 9,991	\$ 4,611.20	\$ 57.64	\$ 119,891
FIRE CAPTAIN	1	\$ 10,643	\$ 4,912.32	\$ 43.86	\$ 127,720
	2	\$ 11,180	\$ 5,159.84	\$ 46.07	\$ 134,156
FIRE CAPTAIN-8HR	1	\$ 10,644	\$ 4,912.80	\$ 61.41	\$ 127,733
	2	\$ 11,178	\$ 5,159.20	\$ 64.49	\$ 134,139
FIRE INSPECTOR	1	\$ 8,054	\$ 3,717.06	\$ 46.46	\$ 96,644
	2	\$ 8,457	\$ 3,903.29	\$ 48.79	\$ 101,486
	3	\$ 8,880	\$ 4,098.58	\$ 51.23	\$ 106,563
	4	\$ 9,325	\$ 4,303.75	\$ 53.80	\$ 111,898
	5	\$ 9,791	\$ 4,518.82	\$ 56.49	\$ 117,489
HAZMAT INSPECTOR	1	\$ 8,054	\$ 3,717.06	\$ 46.46	\$ 96,644
	2	\$ 8,457	\$ 3,903.29	\$ 48.79	\$ 101,486
	3	\$ 8,880	\$ 4,098.58	\$ 51.23	\$ 106,563
	4	\$ 9,325	\$ 4,303.75	\$ 53.80	\$ 111,898
	5	\$ 9,791	\$ 4,518.82	\$ 56.49	\$ 117,489
HAZMAT COORDINATOR	1	\$ 8,755	\$ 4,040.90	\$ 50.51	\$ 105,063
	2	\$ 9,193	\$ 4,242.78	\$ 53.03	\$ 110,312
	3	\$ 9,652	\$ 4,454.54	\$ 55.68	\$ 115,818
	4	\$ 10,134	\$ 4,677.02	\$ 58.46	\$ 121,603
	5	\$ 10,641	\$ 4,911.04	\$ 61.39	\$ 127,687

**LPFD- IAFF LOCAL 1974 SALARY SCHEDULE- EFFECTIVE JULY 13, 2019**

<b>POSITION</b>	<b>STEP</b>	<b>MONTHLY</b>	<b>BI-WEEKLY</b>	<b>HOURLY</b>	<b>ANNUAL</b>
FIREFIGHTER	1	\$ 7,197	\$ 3,321.92	\$ 29.66	\$ 86,370
	2	\$ 7,561	\$ 3,489.92	\$ 31.16	\$ 90,738
	3	\$ 7,938	\$ 3,663.52	\$ 32.71	\$ 95,252
	4	\$ 8,336	\$ 3,847.20	\$ 34.35	\$ 100,027
	5	\$ 8,753	\$ 4,039.84	\$ 36.07	\$ 105,036
	6	\$ 9,192	\$ 4,242.56	\$ 37.88	\$ 110,307
FIREFIGHTER-8HR	1	\$ 7,199	\$ 3,322.40	\$ 41.53	\$ 86,382
	2	\$ 7,563	\$ 3,490.40	\$ 43.63	\$ 90,750
	3	\$ 7,939	\$ 3,664.00	\$ 45.80	\$ 95,264
	4	\$ 8,337	\$ 3,848.00	\$ 48.10	\$ 100,048
	5	\$ 8,753	\$ 4,040.00	\$ 50.50	\$ 105,040
	6	\$ 9,194	\$ 4,243.20	\$ 53.04	\$ 110,323
FIRE ENGINEER	1	\$ 9,799	\$ 4,522.56	\$ 40.38	\$ 117,587
	2	\$ 10,287	\$ 4,747.68	\$ 42.39	\$ 123,440
FIRE ENGINEER-8HR	1	\$ 9,799	\$ 4,522.40	\$ 56.53	\$ 117,582
	2	\$ 10,289	\$ 4,748.80	\$ 59.36	\$ 123,469
FIRE CAPTAIN	1	\$ 10,961	\$ 5,059.04	\$ 45.17	\$ 131,535
	2	\$ 11,515	\$ 5,314.40	\$ 47.45	\$ 138,174
FIRE CAPTAIN-8HR	1	\$ 10,963	\$ 5,060.00	\$ 63.25	\$ 131,560
	2	\$ 11,513	\$ 5,313.60	\$ 66.42	\$ 138,154
FIRE INSPECTOR	1	\$ 8,295	\$ 3,828.58	\$ 47.86	\$ 99,543
	2	\$ 8,711	\$ 4,020.38	\$ 50.25	\$ 104,530
	3	\$ 9,147	\$ 4,221.54	\$ 52.77	\$ 109,760
	4	\$ 9,605	\$ 4,432.86	\$ 55.41	\$ 115,254
	5	\$ 10,084	\$ 4,654.38	\$ 58.18	\$ 121,014
HAZMAT INSPECTOR	1	\$ 8,295	\$ 3,828.58	\$ 47.86	\$ 99,543
	2	\$ 8,711	\$ 4,020.38	\$ 50.25	\$ 104,530
	3	\$ 9,147	\$ 4,221.54	\$ 52.77	\$ 109,760
	4	\$ 9,605	\$ 4,432.86	\$ 55.41	\$ 115,254
	5	\$ 10,084	\$ 4,654.38	\$ 58.18	\$ 121,014
HAZMAT COORDINATOR	1	\$ 9,018	\$ 4,162.12	\$ 52.03	\$ 108,215
	2	\$ 9,468	\$ 4,370.06	\$ 54.63	\$ 113,622
	3	\$ 9,941	\$ 4,588.18	\$ 57.35	\$ 119,293
	4	\$ 10,438	\$ 4,817.34	\$ 60.22	\$ 125,251
	5	\$ 10,960	\$ 5,058.37	\$ 63.23	\$ 131,518

**LPFD- IAFF LOCAL 1974 SALARY SCHEDULE EFFECTIVE- JULY 11, 2020**

DESCRIPTION	STEP	MONTHLY	BI-WEEKLY	HOURLY	ANNUAL
FIREFIGHTER	1	\$ 7,449	\$ 3,438.19	\$ 30.70	\$ 89,393
	2	\$ 7,826	\$ 3,612.07	\$ 32.25	\$ 93,914
	3	\$ 8,215	\$ 3,791.75	\$ 33.85	\$ 98,586
	4	\$ 8,627	\$ 3,981.86	\$ 35.55	\$ 103,528
	5	\$ 9,059	\$ 4,181.24	\$ 37.33	\$ 108,712
	6	\$ 9,514	\$ 4,391.05	\$ 39.21	\$ 114,167
FIREFIGHTER-8HR	1	\$ 7,450	\$ 3,438.69	\$ 42.98	\$ 89,406
	2	\$ 7,827	\$ 3,612.57	\$ 45.16	\$ 93,927
	3	\$ 8,217	\$ 3,792.24	\$ 47.40	\$ 98,598
	4	\$ 8,629	\$ 3,982.68	\$ 49.78	\$ 103,550
	5	\$ 9,060	\$ 4,181.40	\$ 52.27	\$ 108,716
	6	\$ 9,515	\$ 4,391.71	\$ 54.90	\$ 114,184
FIRE ENGINEER	1	\$ 10,142	\$ 4,680.85	\$ 41.79	\$ 121,702
	2	\$ 10,647	\$ 4,913.85	\$ 43.87	\$ 127,760
FIRE ENGINEER-8HR	1	\$ 10,141	\$ 4,680.69	\$ 58.51	\$ 121,698
	2	\$ 10,649	\$ 4,915.01	\$ 61.44	\$ 127,790
FIRE CAPTAIN	1	\$ 11,345	\$ 5,236.11	\$ 46.75	\$ 136,139
	2	\$ 11,918	\$ 5,500.41	\$ 49.11	\$ 143,011
FIRE CAPTAIN-8HR	1	\$ 11,347	\$ 5,237.10	\$ 65.46	\$ 136,165
	2	\$ 11,916	\$ 5,499.58	\$ 68.74	\$ 142,989
FIRE INSPECTOR	1	\$ 8,586	\$ 3,962.58	\$ 49.53	\$ 103,027
	2	\$ 9,016	\$ 4,161.10	\$ 52.01	\$ 108,189
	3	\$ 9,467	\$ 4,369.29	\$ 54.62	\$ 113,602
	4	\$ 9,941	\$ 4,588.02	\$ 57.35	\$ 119,289
	5	\$ 10,437	\$ 4,817.29	\$ 60.22	\$ 125,250
HAZMAT INSPECTOR	1	\$ 8,586	\$ 3,962.58	\$ 49.53	\$ 103,027
	2	\$ 9,016	\$ 4,161.10	\$ 52.01	\$ 108,189
	3	\$ 9,467	\$ 4,369.29	\$ 54.62	\$ 113,602
	4	\$ 9,941	\$ 4,588.02	\$ 57.35	\$ 119,289
	5	\$ 10,437	\$ 4,817.29	\$ 60.22	\$ 125,250
HAZMAT COORDINATOR	1	\$ 9,334	\$ 4,307.79	\$ 53.85	\$ 112,003
	2	\$ 9,800	\$ 4,523.01	\$ 56.54	\$ 117,598
	3	\$ 10,289	\$ 4,748.77	\$ 59.36	\$ 123,468
	4	\$ 10,803	\$ 4,985.94	\$ 62.32	\$ 129,634
	5	\$ 11,343	\$ 5,235.41	\$ 65.44	\$ 136,121

**LPFD- IAFF LOCAL 1974 SALARY SCHEDULE- EFFECTIVE JULY 10, 2021**

DESCRIPTION	STEP	MONTHLY	BI-WEEKLY	HOURLY	ANNUAL
FIREFIGHTER	1	\$ 7,523	\$ 3,472.00	\$ 31.00	\$ 90,272
	2	\$ 7,904	\$ 3,647.84	\$ 32.57	\$ 94,844
	3	\$ 8,297	\$ 3,829.28	\$ 34.19	\$ 99,561
	4	\$ 8,712	\$ 4,020.80	\$ 35.90	\$ 104,541
	5	\$ 9,149	\$ 4,222.40	\$ 37.70	\$ 109,782
	6	\$ 9,607	\$ 4,434.08	\$ 39.59	\$ 115,286
FIREFIGHTER-8HR	1	\$ 7,524	\$ 3,472.80	\$ 43.41	\$ 90,293
	2	\$ 7,904	\$ 3,648.00	\$ 45.60	\$ 94,848
	3	\$ 8,297	\$ 3,829.60	\$ 47.87	\$ 99,570
	4	\$ 8,715	\$ 4,022.40	\$ 50.28	\$ 104,582
	5	\$ 9,150	\$ 4,223.20	\$ 52.79	\$ 109,803
	6	\$ 9,610	\$ 4,435.20	\$ 55.44	\$ 115,315
FIRE ENGINEER	1	\$ 10,243	\$ 4,727.52	\$ 42.21	\$ 122,916
	2	\$ 10,753	\$ 4,962.72	\$ 44.31	\$ 129,031
FIRE ENGINEER-8HR	1	\$ 10,242	\$ 4,727.20	\$ 59.09	\$ 122,907
	2	\$ 10,755	\$ 4,964.00	\$ 62.05	\$ 129,064
FIRE CAPTAIN	1	\$ 11,456	\$ 5,287.52	\$ 47.21	\$ 137,476
	2	\$ 12,036	\$ 5,555.20	\$ 49.60	\$ 144,435
FIRE CAPTAIN-8HR	1	\$ 11,459	\$ 5,288.80	\$ 66.11	\$ 137,509
	2	\$ 12,035	\$ 5,554.40	\$ 69.43	\$ 144,414
FIRE INSPECTOR	1	\$ 8,670	\$ 4,001.60	\$ 50.02	\$ 104,042
	2	\$ 9,105	\$ 4,202.40	\$ 52.53	\$ 109,262
	3	\$ 9,561	\$ 4,412.80	\$ 55.16	\$ 114,733
	4	\$ 10,039	\$ 4,633.60	\$ 57.92	\$ 120,474
	5	\$ 10,540	\$ 4,864.80	\$ 60.81	\$ 126,485
HAZMAT INSPECTOR	1	\$ 8,670	\$ 4,001.60	\$ 50.02	\$ 104,042
	2	\$ 9,105	\$ 4,202.40	\$ 52.53	\$ 109,262
	3	\$ 9,561	\$ 4,412.80	\$ 55.16	\$ 114,733
	4	\$ 10,039	\$ 4,633.60	\$ 57.92	\$ 120,474
	5	\$ 10,540	\$ 4,864.80	\$ 60.81	\$ 126,485
HAZMAT COORDINATOR	1	\$ 9,426	\$ 4,350.40	\$ 54.38	\$ 113,110
	2	\$ 9,897	\$ 4,568.00	\$ 57.10	\$ 118,768
	3	\$ 10,391	\$ 4,796.00	\$ 59.95	\$ 124,696
	4	\$ 10,910	\$ 5,035.20	\$ 62.94	\$ 130,915
	5	\$ 11,456	\$ 5,287.20	\$ 66.09	\$ 137,467

~~Appendix A~~  
~~Salary Schedule~~

**LPFD - IAFF LOCAL 1974 SALARY SCHEDULE EFFECTIVE JANUARY 3, 2015**

POSITION	BASE	1	2	3	4
<b>FIREFIGHTER</b>	MONTHLY	5974	6273	6586	6916
	BI-WEEKLY	2757.44	2895.20	3039.68	3192.00
	HOURLY	24.62	25.85	27.14	28.50
	8 HR RATE	34.47	36.19	38.00	39.90

POSITION	BASE	5	6
<b>FIREFIGHTER</b>	MONTHLY	7263	7626
	BI-WEEKLY	3352.16	3519.63
	HOURLY	29.93	31.43
	8 HR RATE	41.90	44.00

		7	8
<b>FIRE ENGINEER</b>	MONTHLY	8129	8536
	BI-WEEKLY	3752.00	3939.54
	HOURLY	33.50	35.17
	8 HR RATE	46.90	49.24

		9	10
<b>FIRE CAPTAIN</b>	MONTHLY	9095	9549
	BI-WEEKLY	4197.76	4407.91
	HOURLY	37.48	39.36
	8 HR RATE	52.47	55.10

POSITION	BASE	1	2	3	4	5
<b>FIRE INSPECTOR</b>	MONTHLY	7155	7512	7888	8284	8698
	BI-WEEKLY	3302.40	3467.20	3640.80	3823.20	4014.53
	HOURLY	41.28	43.34	45.51	47.79	50.18
<b>HAZARDOUS MATERIALS COORDINATOR</b>	MONTHLY	7776	8164	8573	9001	9452
	BI-WEEKLY	3588.80	3768.00	3956.80	4154.40	4362.26
	HOURLY	44.86	47.10	49.46	51.93	54.53

Summary of Changes

3% Salary Increase

**LFPD - IAFF LOCAL 1974 SALARY SCHEDULE EFFECTIVE JULY 4, 2015**

POSITION	BASE	1	2	3	4
<b>FIREFIGHTER</b>	MONTHLY	6154	6462	6785	7125
	BI-WEEKLY	2840.32	2982.56	3131.52	3288.32
	HOURLY	25.36	26.63	27.96	29.36
	8 HR RATE	35.50	37.28	39.14	41.10

POSITION	BASE	5	6
<b>FIREFIGHTER</b>	MONTHLY	7481	7856
	BI-WEEKLY	3452.96	3625.76
	HOURLY	30.83	32.37
	8 HR RATE	43.16	45.32

		7	8
<b>FIRE ENGINEER</b>	MONTHLY	8372	8791
	BI-WEEKLY	3864.00	4057.21
	HOURLY	34.50	36.23
	8 HR RATE	48.30	50.72

		9	10
<b>FIRE CAPTAIN</b>	MONTHLY	9369	9837
	BI-WEEKLY	4324.32	4540.57
	HOURLY	38.61	40.54
	8 HR RATE	54.05	56.76

POSITION	BASE	1	2	3	4	5
<b>FIRE INSPECTOR</b>	MONTHLY	7370	7739	8126	8531	8959
	BI-WEEKLY	3401.60	3572.00	3750.40	3937.60	4134.83
	HOURLY	42.52	44.65	46.88	49.22	51.69
<b>HAZARDOUS MATERIALS COORDINATOR</b>	MONTHLY	8008	8408	8830	9272	9735
	BI-WEEKLY	3696.00	3880.80	4075.20	4279.20	4493.27
	HOURLY	46.20	48.51	50.94	53.49	56.17

**Summary of Changes**

*3% Salary Increase*

**LPFD - IAFF LOCAL 1974 SALARY SCHEDULE EFFECTIVE JULY 2, 2016**

POSITION	BASE	1	2	3	4
<b>FIREFIGHTER</b>	MONTHLY	6338	6656	6989	7338
	BI-WEEKLY	2925.44	3072.16	3225.60	3386.88
	HOURLY	26.12	27.43	28.80	30.24
	8 HR RATE	36.57	38.40	40.32	42.34

POSITION	BASE	5	6
<b>FIREFIGHTER</b>	MONTHLY	7705	8091
	BI-WEEKLY	3556.00	3734.20
	HOURLY	31.75	33.34
	8 HR RATE	44.45	46.68

		7	8
<b>FIRE ENGINEER</b>	MONTHLY	8624	9056
	BI-WEEKLY	3980.48	4179.49
	HOURLY	35.54	37.32
	8 HR RATE	49.76	52.24

		9	10
<b>FIRE CAPTAIN</b>	MONTHLY	9651	10132
	BI-WEEKLY	4454.24	4676.69
	HOURLY	39.77	41.76
	8 HR RATE	55.68	58.46

POSITION	BASE	1	2	3	4	5
<b>FIRE INSPECTOR</b>	MONTHLY	7594	7973	8372	8790	9228
	BI-WEEKLY	3504.80	3680.00	3864.00	4056.80	4259.26
	HOURLY	43.81	46.00	48.30	50.71	53.24
<b>HAZARDOUS MATERIALS COORDINATOR</b>	MONTHLY	8251	8663	9097	9551	10028
	BI-WEEKLY	3808.00	3998.40	4198.40	4408.00	4628.41
	HOURLY	47.60	49.98	52.48	55.10	57.86

Summary of Changes

3% Salary Increase



**LFPD - IAFF LOCAL 1974 SALARY SCHEDULE EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2017**

POSITION	BASE	1	2	3	4
<b>FIREFIGHTER</b>	MONTHLY	6528	6855	7197	7557
	BI-WEEKLY	3012.80	3164.00	3321.92	3487.68
	HOURLY	26.90	28.25	29.66	31.14
	8 HR RATE	37.66	39.55	41.52	43.60

POSITION	BASE	5	6
<b>FIREFIGHTER</b>	MONTHLY	7935	8333
	BI-WEEKLY	3662.40	3846.10
	HOURLY	32.70	34.34
	8 HR RATE	45.78	48.08

		7	8
<b>FIRE ENGINEER</b>	MONTHLY	8884	9328
	BI-WEEKLY	4100.32	4305.24
	HOURLY	36.61	38.44
	8 HR RATE	51.25	53.82

		9	10
<b>FIRE CAPTAIN</b>	MONTHLY	9940	10437
	BI-WEEKLY	4587.52	4817.43
	HOURLY	40.96	43.01
	8 HR RATE	57.34	60.22

POSITION	BASE	1	2	3	4	5
<b>FIRE INSPECTOR</b>	MONTHLY	7819	8211	8622	9053	9505
	BI-WEEKLY	3608.80	3789.60	3979.20	4178.40	4386.98
	HOURLY	45.11	47.37	49.74	52.23	54.84
<b>HAZARDOUS MATERIALS COORDINATOR</b>	MONTHLY	8500	8925	9370	9838	10330
	BI-WEEKLY	3923.20	4119.20	4324.80	4540.80	4767.66
	HOURLY	49.04	51.49	54.06	56.76	59.60

Summary of Changes

3% Salary Increase

## **Appendix B Catastrophic Leave Policy**

The catastrophic leave program permits employees to donate hours of sick leave, vacation leave or compensatory time for the purpose of providing eligible employees, upon approval, additional hours of paid leave.

### **CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS OR INJURY**

A catastrophic illness or injury is a major medical condition that disables the employee from working for a protracted period of time.

### **ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE**

An employee who because of a catastrophic illness or injury has exhausted his/her accrued sick leave, vacation leave, compensatory time, and:

1. Is ineligible for any city disability income benefits; and
2. Has an acceptable sick leave record as determined by the sick leave administrative committee upon the recommendation of the Fire Chief.

### **DONATING SICK LEAVE**

Employees may donate sick leave, vacation leave or compensatory time to an eligible employee approved for catastrophic leave upon completion of the necessary form. Donations of sick leave once made are irrevocable.

### **REQUESTING/APPROVING CATASTROPHIC LEAVE**

Requests for catastrophic leave must be in writing and be accompanied by a physician's certificate attesting to the catastrophic illness or injury.

### **ADMINISTRATION**

The catastrophic leave shall be administered by a committee comprised of two representatives designated by Local 1974 and two representatives designated by the city manager. The committee shall be responsible for reviewing requests for catastrophic leave and determining the requesting employee's eligibility for such leave. The committee shall recommend to the City Manager of Pleasanton if the request should be approved, the number of catastrophic leave hours to be granted, and under what conditions. The Pleasanton City Manager's decision regarding the request shall be final. (NOTE: Per IRS rules and regulations, all donations received by eligible employees are subject to regular payroll tax deductions.)

## **Appendix C**

### **Grievance Review Board Procedures**

Each party shall exchange a list of witnesses and exhibits fourteen calendar days prior to the Review Board hearing. Witnesses or exhibits not set forth on the list shall not be called or used, respectively, at the hearing, except for rebuttal. Witnesses and exhibits not on the list shall not be called nor used, respectively, should the grievance proceed to arbitration, except for rebuttal.

Either party may be represented by an attorney or a designated representative and may use an attorney at the Review Board hearing. Any party so choosing to use an attorney shall notify the other party fourteen calendar days prior to the Review Board hearing and the failure to do so shall preclude that party from using an attorney at the hearing.

Either party may call witnesses and submit exhibits as provided in Section 1, and through the Board, may question the other party's witnesses. Either party may present that party's position in writing or orally. The hearing will be conducted in a manner consistent with an individual's rights under the law. The Review Board may continue the hearing if the Board requests additional information from either party. The Review Board hearing may be recorded electronically or by a court reporter/stenographer.

All members of the Review Board will conduct themselves professionally, with the intent of reaching a fair and just resolution of the grievance submitted. Any Review Board member may question any witness. Any Review Board member who is listed as a witness shall not serve as a Review Board member for that hearing.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the Review Board may entertain oral argument of the parties and shall deliberate in order to reach a decision. The Review Board may deliberate in private. During deliberations, the Review Board shall review the facts and arguments presented.

After deliberation, the Review Board shall (a) uphold the grievance, (b) deny the grievance, (c) fashion/mediate a resolution that is not in conflict with the labor agreement, or (d) deadlock. A majority vote is needed for items (a), (b) and (c). If the Review Board deadlocks, the grievance shall be submitted within 14 calendar days to the Joint Executive Directors. If, in deciding the grievance, the Review Board determines that either party violated a provision of the Memorandum of Understanding, that determination will be submitted in writing to the Joint Executive Directors within fourteen calendar days.

The Review Board may, by majority vote, adopt other reasonable informal procedures to (a) facilitate an efficient and speedy outcome of the grievance, including directions for submitting disputes in writing; (b) to establish time limitations; (c) to establish methods to preserve privacy in EEO related disputes; and (d) to adopt similar matters in furtherance of an appropriate management-labor relationship.

By mutual agreement of the parties, the Review Board hearing may be bypassed and the grievance advanced to the next level of the grievance process.

**SIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT #1**  
**Paramedic Preceptor Program**

~~Representatives of the Department and the Union agree to meet prior to the implementation of a Paramedic Preceptor program in order to develop guidelines inclusive of qualifications needed for Preceptors. After conclusion of such meet and confer on the program, employees assigned as Paramedic Preceptors shall be paid sixty dollars (\$60.00) per shift when precepting a trainee.~~

~~LOCAL 1974, INTERNATIONAL \_\_\_\_\_ LIVERMORE PLEASANTON \_\_\_\_\_ FIRE  
ASSOCIATION OF FIREFIGHTERS, \_\_\_\_\_ DEPARTMENT JOINT POWERS  
AFL-CIO-CLC \_\_\_\_\_ AUTHORITY~~

~~By \_\_\_\_\_  
— Jason Solak, President~~

~~By \_\_\_\_\_  
— Nelson Fialho, City of Pleasanton~~

~~By \_\_\_\_\_  
— Dennis Burns, IAFF~~

~~By \_\_\_\_\_  
— Marc Roberts, City of Livermore~~